### UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DELL'INSUBRIA Via Ravasi 2, 21100 – Varese, Italy



Dipartimento di Scienze Teoriche e Applicate – Di.S.T.A. Dipartimento di Scienza e Alta Tecnologia – Di.S.A.T.

Ph.D. Degree Program in Computer Science and Computational Mathematics XXIX Cycle

# EQUIVALENCE RELATIONS AND OPERATORS ON ORDERED ALGEBRAIC STRUCTURES WITH DIFFERENCE

Candidate:

FRANCESCO MARIGO

Advisor: Co-advisor: Brunella Gerla Tommaso Flaminio

Coordinators:

Claudio Gentile Marco Donatelli

Equivalence Relations and Operators on Ordered Algebraic Structures with Difference

Francesco Marigo

## Preface

This work surveys the largest part of my research as Ph.D. student of the course "Informatica e Matematica del Calcolo" (Computer Science and Computational Mathematics) at the "Università degli Studi dell'Insubria" (Univesity of Insubria), done for most of the time at the "Dipartimento di Scienze Teoriche e Applicate" (Department of Theoretical and Applied Sciences) in Varese (Italy), with a visit of one month at the Department of Knowledge-Based Mathematical Systems of the Johannes Kepler University in Linz (Austria).

The work concerns mainly algebraic models of fuzzy and many-valued propositional logics, in particular Boolean Algebras, Heyting algebras, GBL-algebras and their dual structures, and partial algebras.

The central idea is the representation of complex structures through simpler structures and equivalence relations on them: in order to achieve this, a structure is often considered under two points of view, as total algebra and partial algebra. The equivalence relations which allow the representation are congruences of partial algebras.

The first chapter introduces D-posets, the partial algebraic structures used for this representation, which generalize Boolean algebras and MV-algebras.

The second chapter is a study of congruences on D-posets and the structure of the quotients, in particular for congruences induced by some kinds of idempotent operators, here called S-operators. The case of Boolean algebras and MV-algebras is studied more in detail.

The third chapter introduces GBL-algebras and their dual, and shows how the interplay of an S-operator with a closure operator gives rise to a dual GBL-algebra. Other results about the representation of finite GBL-algebras and GBL\*algebras (GBL-algebras with monoidal sum), part of two papers that I wrote with my advisor and co-advisor [14, 15], are summarized and put in relation with the other results of this work. 

# Acknowledgments

Firstly, I would like to thank who mostly contributed in the research work for this thesis, in particular: my advisor Brunella Gerla for her firm support and the illuminating guidance; my co-advisor Tommaso Flaminio for the stimulating discussion and his precious hints; Thomas Vetterlein, who took care of my stay in Linz, for his kind hospitality and the inspiring suggestions. I would also like to thank my coordinators, teachers and colleagues for their help, from the practical needs to the sharing of knowledge. Finally, I am grateful to my family and my friends, who have always been supporting and encouraging me.

# Contents

1	D-posets		9
	1.1	Definitions and first properties	10
	1.2	D-morphisms	11
	1.3	MV-algebras	13
	1.4	States and valuations	16
2	Equivalence relations on D-posets		19
	2.1	D-congruences	20
	2.2	Clopen D-congruences	23
	2.3	Sectional D-congruences and S-operators	28
	2.4	Boolean algebras with S-operators	34
3 GBL-algebras and their dual		-algebras and their dual	37
	3.1	Closure and interior algebras	38
	3.2	GBL-pair representation of finite GBL-algebras	41
	3.3	Dual GBL-algebras	46
	3.4	GBL*algebras and dual GBL*algebras	50

#### CONTENTS

## **Chapter 1**

# **D**-posets

In this chapter we introduce D-posets, which are partial algebraic structures. Informally, a *partial algebra* is a set A with some operations, each with its *arity*, such that every k-ary operation is defined for some, not necessarily all, ordered k-tuples of elements of A, that is, for a (possibly proper) subset of  $A^k$ . If, for a k-ary operation, the domain of definition is all  $A^k$ , then the operation is *total*. If all operations on A are total, then A is a *total algebra*, or simply an *algebra*.

For binary operations, the domain of definition is a binary relation on A (a subset of  $A \times A$ ).

D-posets have been introduced in [33] as models for quantum logic, and they have are essentially equivalent to effect algebras [18] and weak orthoalgebras [22], introduced for similar purposes.

As it will be shown in Section 1.1, D-posets are partial algebras with one binary operation, called *partial difference*, whose domain of definition is a relation of partial order.

One of the main concepts arising in quantum logic (and more in general, in quantum mechanics) is the notion of *measurement*. In the present work we will not be concerned with quantum logic, but we will keep the notion of measurement in our intended interpretation, in a twofold way.

On one hand, D-posets can represent universes with a collection of parts, ordered by inclusion, which can be object of measurement. The difference of two parts, one contained into the other, is what remains after removing the smaller part from the larger. A simple example is given by a collection of subsets of a set, closed by relative complement. More in general, Boolean algebras can be seen as D-posets, when the operation of difference is restricted to comparable elements. Another important example (not examined in depth in this work) is given by *orthomodular lattices*, for instance the lattice of linear subspaces of a Hilbert spaces.

On the other hand, D-posets can represent generalized systems of values for (finitely

additive) measures. Indeed, the unit interval [0,1] with difference is a D-poset, and a finitely additive probability can be seen as a morphism of D-posets to [0,1]

A useful distinction in D-posets is between *sharp* and *unsharp* elements: an element is sharp if it has a complement with respect to the order. A D-poset is *sharp* if all its elements are sharp. Sharp D-posets include Boolean algebras and orthomodular lattices, while [0, 1] is an example of unsharp D-poset. Informally, we can think of sharp D-poset as representing collections of parts (or substructures) of a universe, and unsharp D-posets as spaces of generalized measures.

A class which includes Boolean algebras and the unit interval is the class of *MV*-*algebras*, which will be treated most extensively in this work. An MV-algebra is a total algebra, but it is also determined by its partial structure of D-poset.

General references for partial algebras are [5] and [23, Chapter 2]. The latter book is mainly concerned with total algebras.

For lattice theory, we mainly refer to [24].

### **1.1 Definitions and first properties**

For definitions and results on D-posets we refer the reader to [8].

**Definition 1.1.1.** Let  $(P, \leq)$  be a poset with a minimum  $0_P$  and a maximum  $1_P$ . Let  $\setminus$  be a partial operation (partial difference) such that  $b \setminus a$  is defined for  $a \leq b$ . Then,  $(P, \leq, \backslash, 0_P, 1_P)$  is called a D-poset if the following conditions hold:

(D1)  $a \smallsetminus 0_P = a$ ;

- (D2) for all  $a, b, c \in P$  with  $a \le b \le c$ ,  $(c \land b) \le (c \land a)$ ;
- (D3) for all  $a, b, c \in P$  with  $a \le b \le c$ ,  $(c \land a) \land (c \land b) = b \land a$ .

Whenever there is no risk of confusion, we write just 0 and 1 for, respectively, the lower and the upper bound of a bounded poset.

A derived unary operation of D-posets is  $\neg a = 1 \land a$ .

D-posets are partial algebras, since the operation of difference  $\times$  is defined only for pairs of elements which are comparable with respect to the order relation  $\leq$ . Therefore,  $\leq$  stands for the domain of definition of the binary operation  $\times$ .

We say that a D-poset P is a D-lattice if it is a lattice with respect to the order relation  $\leq$ .

We say that P is a Boolean D-poset if it is a D-lattice and, for all  $a, b \in P$ , it holds

(D4)  $(a \lor b) \lor b = a \lor (a \land b).$ 

#### 1.2. D-MORPHISMS

A D-poset P is an *orthomodular lattice* if it is a D-lattice and  $a \lor (b \lor a) = b$  for all  $a, b \in P$  with  $a \le b$  (which is equivalent to the *orthomodular law*).

A D-poset P is a *Boolean algebra* if it is both a Boolean D-poset and and an orthomodular lattice.

Every MV-algebra is a Boolean D-poset, by setting  $b \setminus a = b \ominus a$  for  $a \le b$ , where  $\ominus$  is the usual, total, MV-operation of difference [8]. Conversely, every Boolean D-poset *P* can be endowed in a unique way with the structure of MV-algebra, having the same order relation as *P*, and the MV-operation  $\ominus$  such that  $b \ominus a = b \setminus a$  for  $a \le b$  in *P* [8]. For more details, see Section 1.3

**Remark 1.1.1.** *D*-posets are often studied regarding their operation of partial sum, which can be derived from the partial difference. In this case they are most widely known as effect algebras, starting from [18]. In the context of effect algebras, *D*lattices are called lattice-ordered effect algebras and Boolean D-posets MV-effect algebras. We prefer not to give details of this correspondence, in order not to create confusions betwen the used terminology. In the present work we will be more concerned with the operation of difference rather than sum, hence we use the terminology of D-posets rather than that of effect algebras. However, many of the concepts used in this work are mutuated from the theory of effect algebras.

We conclude this section explaining in what sharp and unsharp elements of a Dposet differ.

Let P be a D-poset and  $a \in P$ . We say that a is *sharp* if the greatest lower bound of a and  $\neg a$  exists and it is  $a \land \neg a = 0$ . We say that a is *unsharp* if it is not sharp.

We say that P is sharp if *all* its element are sharp, and P is unsharp if *some* of its elements are unsharp (notice that 0 and 1 are sharp in every D-poset).

Boolean algebras and orthomodular lattices are sharp D-lattices. A Boolean D-poset is sharp if and only if it is a Boolean algebra.

#### **1.2 D-morphisms**

A common requirement for a morphisms of a partial algebras  $f : A \to B$  is that, if a k-ary operation of is defined for a k-tuple of A and it has value x, the same operation is defined for the k-tuple of images, and for its value y it holds y = f(x). See [5, 23] for the general theory. For D-poset, we have the following definition [8].

**Definition 1.2.1.** Let P and Q be D-posets. A function  $f : P \rightarrow Q$  is a homomorphism of D-posets, (shortly, D-morphism), if

 $(M1) f(1_P) = 1_O;$ 

(M2) for all  $a, b \in P$  with  $a \leq b$ ,  $f(a) \leq f(b)$ ;

(M3) for all  $a, b \in P$  with  $a \leq b$ ,  $f(b \setminus a) = f(b) \setminus f(a)$ .

It follows immediately from Definition 1.2.1 that f preserves 0. Indeed,  $f(1 \times 1) = f(1) \times f(1) = 0$ .

We say that f is mono if it is injective as a function, epi if it is surjective.

D-morphisms do not necessarily preserve existing joins (least upper bounds) or meets (greatest lower bounds).

Certain classes of D-morphisms are of special interest for the sequel.

**Definition 1.2.2.** Let P and Q be D-posets and  $f : P \to Q$  be a D-morphism. We say that f is regular if, for all  $a, b \in P$  with  $f(a) \leq f(b)$ , there are  $c, d \in P$  such that  $c \leq d$ , f(c) = f(a) and f(d) = f(b).

Let f be an epi D-morphism. We say that f is clopen if, for all  $a, b \in P$  with  $f(a) \leq f(b)$ , there is  $c \in P$  such that f(c) = f(a) and  $c \leq b$ , or, equivalently by duality, if, for all  $a, b \in P$  with  $f(a) \leq f(b)$ , there is  $d \in P$  such that f(d) = f(b) and  $a \leq d$ .

We say that f is sectional if there is a function  $\sigma : P \to P$  such that following conditions hold, for all  $a, b \in P$ :

$$\sigma(\sigma(a)) = \sigma(a);$$
  

$$\sigma(a) = \sigma(b) \text{ if and only if } f(a) = f(b);$$
  

$$if f(a) \le f(b), \text{ then } \sigma(a) \le \sigma(b).$$

It follows from the definition that  $f(\sigma(a)) = f(a)$  for all  $a \in P$ . The function  $\sigma$  is monotone, but it is not, in general, a D-morphism. Clearly, if f is a clopen or sectional epi D-morphism, then f is regular.

We adopted the term "clopen" since a clopen epi D-morphism f is both an open and a closed map, regarding the posets as finite (or Alexandrov) topological spaces.

We adopted the term "sectional" since a sectional epi D-morphism  $f: P \to Q$ , as a morphism of posets, has a section, that is a function  $s: Q \to P$  such that fs is the identity of Q. For such s, it holds  $sf = \sigma$ .

In Section 2.3 we will give an example of a clopen epi D-morphism which is not sectional. We do not have a proof whether every sectional epi D-morphism is clopen, though this fact seems plausible at least for finite D-posets.

An example of regular epi D-morphism which is nor clopen nor sectional is the following.

**Example 1.2.1.** Let P be the powerset of the three-element set  $\{a, b, c\}$ , with the usual order by set inclusion, and set difference as partial difference, and let  $Q = \{0, 1/4, 1/2, 3/4, 1\}$  with the usual order and difference, which is a Boolean D-poset. Let  $f : P \to Q$  such that:

 $f(\emptyset) = 0;$   $f(\{a\}) = f(\{b\}) = 1/4;$   $f(\{c\}) = f(\{a,b\}) = 1/2;$   $f(\{a,c\}) = f(\{b,c\}) = 3/4;$   $f(\{a,b,c\}) = 1.$ It can be verified that f is a

It can be verified that f is a regular epi D-morphism. However, f is not clopen:  $f(\{a\}) \leq f(\{c\})$ , but there is not a subset of  $\{c\}$  with the same image as  $\{a\}$  through f. The D-morphism f is not sectional either: indeed, Q is a five-element chain, while the longest chains of P have four elements.

It is easier to find examples of non-regular D-morphisms. One is by taking as P the powerset of the two-element set  $\{a, b\}$ , as Q the Boolean D-poset  $\{0, 1/3, 2/3, 1\}$  and as  $f : P \to Q$  the function:

 $f(\emptyset) = 0;$   $f(\{a\}) = 1/3;$   $f(\{b\}) = 2/3;$  $f(\{a,b\}) = 1.$ 

**Remark 1.2.1.** Our notions of regular, clopen and sectional D-morphisms are intermediate between the weaker notion of full homomorphism of partial algebras given in [5, 23] and the stronger notion of strong homomorphism [23] also called closed homomorphism [5] of partial algebras.

We say that a D-morphism is an *embedding* if it is a regular mono D-morphism.

Let P be a D-poset and  $Q \subseteq P$  be a subset of P. We say that Q is a sub D-poset of P if

 $1_P \in Q;$ 

for all  $a, b \in Q$  with  $a \leq b$ ,  $(b \setminus a) \in Q$ .

It easily follows that  $0_P \in Q$ ,  $(Q \leq n, n_P, 1_P)$  is a D-poset and the inclusion of Q in P is an embedding. Conversely, the image of every embedding is a sub D-poset of the codomain.

A D-morphism  $f: P \to Q$  which is an embedding and it is epi (in other words, a regular mono and epi D-morphism) is an *isomorphism*, and we say that P and Q are *isomorphic*.

### 1.3 MV-algebras

In this section we recall some basic facts about MV-algebra. We refer to the handbook [9], and to [8] for MV-algebras as Boolean D-posets.

An MV-algebra is a structure  $(L, \oplus, \neg, 0)$  of type (2, 1, 0) such that the following identities hold:

```
a \oplus 0 = a;

\neg \neg a = a;

(a \oplus b) \oplus c = a \oplus (b \oplus c);

\neg (\neg a \oplus b) \oplus b = \neg (\neg b \oplus a) \oplus a;

a \oplus \neg 0 = \neg 0.
```

Commutativity of  $\oplus$  follows from the axioms, hence  $(L, \oplus, 0)$  is a commutative monoid. Derived operations are:

$$a \rightarrow b = \neg a \oplus b;$$
  

$$a \odot b = \neg (\neg a \oplus \neg b);$$
  

$$b \ominus a = \neg a \odot b;$$
  

$$a \lor b = a \oplus (b \ominus a);$$
  

$$a \land b = \neg (\neg a \lor \neg b) = b \ominus (b \ominus a).$$

By setting  $1 = \neg 0$ ,  $(L, \odot, 1)$  is a commutative monoid, and  $(L, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is a bounded distributive lattice.

If we set  $b \\ a = b \\ightarrow a \\ightarrow b \\ightarrow a \\ightarrow b \\ightarrow a \\ightarrow a \\ightarrow b \\ightarrow a \\ightarro$ 

In a Boolean D-poset L an element a is sharp if and only if  $a \oplus a = a$ . For this property, a sharp element in an MV-algebra is usually said an *idempotent*. We denote by I(L) the subset of idempotents of L. For two idempotents  $a, b \in I(L)$ , it holds  $a \oplus b = a \lor b$  and  $a \odot b = a \land b$ . It follows that  $(I(L), \lor, \neg) = (I(L), \oplus, \neg)$  is a Boolean algebra. Further, if L, as a D-poset, is sharp (that is, we recall, all its elements are sharp), the MV-algebra  $(L, \oplus, \neg, 0) = (L, \lor, \neg, 0)$  is a Boolean algebra.

We will write b-a for the total difference in a Boolean algebra, that is  $b-a = \neg a \land b$ .

We say shortly MV-morphism for a homomorphisms of MV-algebras.

As we have seen, MV-algebras and Boolean D-posets are essentially the same thing, in the sense that the structure of MV-algebra can be recovered from the structure of Boolean D-poset and vice-versa. But the operation of difference is total in MV-algebras, while it is partial in Boolean D-posets. This means that part of the structure of MV-algebra is "implicit" in a Boolean D-poset, hence we may expect that MV-morphism between two algebras are also D-morphisms, but the converse does not hold. This statement is made precise in the following proposition.

14

#### 1.3. MV-ALGEBRAS

**Proposition 1.3.1.** Let L and M be two MV-algebras, and  $f: L \rightarrow M$  be a function. Then, f is an MV-morphisms if and only if f is a D-morphism and it is a lattice-morphism.

*Proof.* If f is an MV-morphism, then it preserves  $\lor$  and  $\land$ , since these are derived operations. Hence f is a lattice-morphism. Furthermore, f preserves the total difference  $\ominus$ , whence it preserves also the partial difference  $\searrow$ , and we can conclude that f is a D-morphism. Conversely, let f be a D-morphism and lattice-morphism. Since  $b \ominus a = b \lor (a \land b)$ , f preserves also the total difference  $\ominus$ , hence also the total sum  $\oplus$ , therefore it is an MV-morphism

An example of D-morphism which is not an MV-morphism is given in Example 1.2.1.

Taking Proposition 1.3.1 into account, a convenient way to axiomatize MV-algebras in the setting of partial algebras is the following: an MV-algebra is a structure  $(L, \lor, \land, \lor, 0, 1)$  such that  $(L, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is a bounded lattice and  $(L, \le, \lor, 0, 1)$  is a Boolean D-poset, that is it satisfies (D1)-(D4). Here  $\le$  is the order relation in the lattice (defined as  $a \le b$  if and only if  $a = a \land b$ ). It follows from the axioms that L, as a lattice, is distributive.

Summarizing, an MV-algebra is a Boolean D-poset where the lattice operations  $\lor$  and  $\land$  are added to the signature.

**Remark 1.3.1.** We will often refer to a structure regardless to the operations considered in the signature. Therefore, we will say "MV-algebra" and "Boolean algebra" even when we are interested only in their structure of D-posets.

The following proposition shows that, for MV-morphisms, the distinction we made about epi D-morphisms vanishes.

**Proposition 1.3.2.** Let L and M be two MV-algebras, and  $f : L \to M$  be an MV-morphism. Then f, as a D-morphism, is regular. If f is epi, then f is clopen and sectional.

*Proof.* Let f be epi. If  $f(a) \le f(b)$ , then, since f is a lattice morphism, it holds  $f(a \land b) = f(a) \land f(b) = f(a)$ , and, for  $c = a \land b$ , it holds that f(c) = f(a) and  $c \le b$ , which means f is clopen.

The fact that f is sectional comes from the existence of a section in the category of posets with monotone functions, for a surjective function f between two lattices which is also a lattice morphism. But we will not give details of this implication.

Let  $f: L \to M$  be any MV-morphism. Then, the image f(L) is a subalgebra of M, and f is an epi MV-morphism to f(L), hence it is clopen, therefore regular. Then, f is regular also as a D-morphism to M.

It worths mentioning the simple fact that two MV-algebras are isomorphic as Dposets if and only if they are also isomorphic as MV-algebras.

The unit interval [0,1], with the usual operation of difference between numbers  $(b - a \text{ for } a \le b)$  as partial difference, is a Boolean D-poset. As an MV-algebra, [0,1] is called the *standard MV-algebra*.

### 1.4 States and valuations

In this section we define valuations on bounded distributive lattices in terms of functions to D-posets, and we briefly show how D-morphism can be seen as a generalization of finitely additive probability measures on Boolean algebras, as well as of states of MV-algebras, as defined in [37].

We invite the reader to consult [4] for valuations to real numbers, and [40] for valuations to rings. We will use just the term "valuation" for what is often called "normalized monotone valuation", since we are only concerned with valuations of this kind. For similar reasons, in the sequel we say "distributive lattice" for "bounded distributive lattice", since all the lattices that we will consider are bounded.

Let  $(L, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  be a distributive lattice. A *valuation* on L to the real unit interval [0,1] is a function  $f: L \to [0,1]$  which satisfies

- normalization: f(0) = 0 and f(1) = 1;
- *monotonicity*: for all  $a, b \in L$  with  $a \le b, f(a) \le f(b)$ ;
- subtractivity: for all  $a, b \in L$ ,  $f(a \lor b) f(b) = f(a) f(a \land b)$ .

Usually, subtractivity is given in the equivalent additive form:

• *additivity*: for all  $a, b \in L$ ,  $f(a \lor b) + f(a \land b) = f(a) + f(b)$ ,

but we prefer the subtractive notation because we want to keep the range of operations within [0, 1], and the reason will soon be clear.

Notice that our notion of valuation corresponds to *isotone valuation* with values in [0,1] of [4, Chapter X].

Since subtractivity involves only subtraction of smaller from greater numbers, it is clear how the definition of valuation can be generalized to D-posets.

**Definition 1.4.1.** Let *L* be a distributive lattice and *P* be a *D*-poset. We call a function  $f : L \rightarrow P$  a valuation to *P* if *f* satisfies

- (N) f(0) = 0 and f(1) = 1;
- (M) for all  $a, b \in L$  with  $a \leq b$ ,  $f(a) \leq f(b)$ ;

#### 1.4. STATES AND VALUATIONS

(S) for all 
$$a, b \in L$$
,  $f(a \lor b) \lor f(b) = f(a) \lor f(a \land b)$ .

The following proposition is a simple reformulation of the definition of valuation for a Boolean algebra.

**Proposition 1.4.1.** Let U be a Boolean algebra, P be a D-poset and  $f: U \rightarrow P$  be a function satisfying (N) and (M) of Definition 1.4.1. Then, (S) is equivalent to the following condition:

(S') for all 
$$a, b \in U$$
 with  $a \leq b$ ,  $f(b) \setminus f(a) = f(b \setminus a)$ .

*Proof.* Let (S) hold. If  $a \le b$ , then  $b = (b \land a) \lor a$  and  $f(b) \land f(a) = f((b \land a) \lor a) \land f(a) = f(b \land a) \land f(0) = f(b \land a)$ , since  $(b \land a) \land a = 0$  and f(0) = 0.

Let now (S') hold. Then, for all  $a, b \in U$ ,  $f(a \lor b) \lor f(b) = f((a \lor b) \lor b)$  and  $f(a) \lor f(a \land b) = f(a \lor (a \land b))$ , whence (S) follows since, in a Boolean algebra,  $(a \lor b) \lor b = a \lor (a \land b)$ .

A function which satisfies (N), (M) and (S') has been previously called a D-morphism. Therefore, valuations on Boolean algebras are D-morphisms.

When U is a Boolean algebra, P = [0, 1] and  $f : U \to P$  satisfies (N), (M) and (S'), f is also called a *finitely additive probability measure*. Therefore, valuations of Boolean algebras in [0, 1] are finitely additive probability measures.

States of MV-algebras were introduced in [37] as averaging values of Łukasiewicz truth-evaluations.

**Definition 1.4.2.** A state *s* of an MV-algebra *L* is a map  $s: L \rightarrow [0,1]$  satisfying

- (1) s(1) = 1;
- (2)  $s(a \oplus b) = s(a) + s(b)$  whenever  $a \odot b = 0$ .

It is easy to see that a function  $s : L \to [0,1]$  is a state if and only if it is a Dmorphism. Indeed,  $a \oplus b$  can be any element c with  $a \leq c$ , and for such c, if  $a \odot b = 0$ , it holds  $c \ominus a = b$ . Hence, condition (2) can be reformulated as (M1) in Definition 1.2.1. Further, (2) implies monotonicity, that is (M2), and (1) is the same as (M1).

On the other hand, if s is a D-morphism,  $a \odot b = 0$  implies  $s(a) = s((a \oplus b) \ominus b) = s(a \oplus b) - s(b)$ , that is (2).

Condition (2) can be replaced by

(2') 
$$s(a \oplus b) - s(b) = s(a) - s(a \odot b)$$
.

Generalizing Definition 1.4.2, we call *state* of a D-poset P any D-morphism  $s : P \rightarrow [0, 1]$ .

As shown before, if L is a Boolean algebra, states of L coincide with valuations to [0, 1], and with finitely additive probability measures.

If L is an MV-algebra, a D-morphism of L to a D-poset P is also a valuation on L, as a distributive lattice, to P. Indeed, (N) and (M) of Definition 1.4.1 are clearly satisfied, and

$$s(a \lor b) \smallsetminus s(b) = s((a \lor b) \lor b) = s(a \land (a \land b)) = s(a) \lor s(a \land b).$$

On the other hand, a valuation on L as a distributive lattice to a D-poset P is not necessarily a D-morphsm from L to P. For instance, consider the three-element MV-chain  $L = \{0, 1/2, 1\}$  and  $f : L \rightarrow [0, 1]$  with

f(0) = 0;f(1/2) = 1/3;

f(1) = 1.

Then, f is a valuation on L, as a distributive lattice, to [0, 1], but it is not a state of L, since the image of 1/2 through any state of L has to be 1/2.

## Chapter 2

## **Equivalence relations on D-posets**

In this chapter we are going to investigate several kinds of equivalence relations on D-posets.

For total algebras there is a canonical notion of congruence. Informally, a congruence on an algebra A is an equivalence relation such that, for every k-ary operation \* of A, applying \* to a k-tuple  $x \in A^k$  gives a result equivalent to the one obtained applying \* to a k-tuple  $y \in A^k$  which is elementwise equivalent to x.

For partial algebras there are different concepts of congruence, which correspond to different ways of taking into account the partial domain of operations, that is a possibly proper subset of  $A^k$ . We will investigate some kinds of congruences on D-posets which allow a representation of D-posets as quotients, in particular for MV-algebras.

In our intended interpretation, where sharp D-poset can be thought of as collections of parts of a universe, which can be object of measurement, and unsharp D-posets as spaces of generalized measures, we would like represent unsharp D-posets in terms of sharp ones. The idea dates back to Euclid's Elements, where measure arises from an equivalence relation on some class of geometric entities satisfying five common notions, in particular the following three:

- things which equal the same thing also equal one another;
- if equals are subtracted from equals, then the remainders are equal;
- the whole is greater than the part.

The first notion is just the transitivity of the equivalence relation. The other two suggest us to interpret a congruence on a sharp D-poset as a generalization of Euclidean's relation of "equimeasurability".

Among the different classes of congruences on D-posets, we will investigate more in detail congruences induced by certain kinds of idempotent operators, that we call *S-operators*. An S-operator is an idempotent, monotone operator which represents the process of measure through the comparison with a prototype: think, for instance, of measuring lengths by comparing objects with the initial segments of a ruler.

We will study more in detail the properties of S-operators, and congruences induced by them, on Boolean algebras, which are the classical models to which measures apply. For a Boolean algebra U, we show that the quotient is an MV-algebra, and its algebraic structure can be recovered by only the order structure and difference of U: an operation between two classes is the minimum or the maximum class obtained by a corresponding Boolean operation, applied to elements in the two classes. For instance, starting with the operation of disjunction of a Boolean algebra, in the quotient we obtain two operation, the "weak disjunction" and the "strong disjunction", by respectively taking the minimum or the maximum. These correspond to two basic operations of MV-algebras.

### 2.1 D-congruences

For a general introduction to congruence relations in partial algebras see [5] and [23]

In the literature there are several definitions of congruence in the general setting of partial algebras. For the particular cases of effect algebras and D-postes, we invite the reader to consult [25] and [8] respectively.

Here we mutuate some definitions from other works and we adapt them to our context, with emphasis on the classes of equivalence relations that will be most useful in our model. All our definitions of congruences are based on morphisms: congruences are equivalence relations induced by certain classes of morphisms. We will not relate D-congruences with ideals in D-posets, as introduced in [8].

Let P and Q be D-posets and  $f : P \to Q$  be a function. We write  $\sim_f$  for the equivalence relation induced by f, that is  $a \sim_f b$  if and only if f(a) = f(b), for  $a, b \in P$ .

**Definition 2.1.1.** A congruence of D-poset (shortly, D-congruence) ~ on P is an equivalence relation induced by some regular epi D-morphism, that is, ~ is a D-congruence if there are a D-poset Q and a regular epi D-morphism  $f : P \rightarrow Q$  such that ~ coincides with ~<sub>f</sub>. If ~ is induced by a clopen epi D-morphism, we say that ~ is a clopen D-congruence. If ~ is induced by a sectional epi D-morphism, we say that ~ is a sectional D-congruence.

**Remark 2.1.1.** If P is an MV-algebra, then an MV-algebra congruence of P is also a D-congruence, both clopen and sectional. Indeed, every congruence of an MV-algebra is induced by the projection  $\pi$  to the quotient, which is an epi MV-morphism. By Proposition 1.3.1,  $\pi$  is also an epi D-morphism and, by Proposition

20

#### 1.3.2, $\pi$ is regular, clopen and sectional.

On the other hand, a D-congruence induced by a regular epi D-morphism which is not an MV-morphism, such as f of Example 1.2.1, is not a congruence of MValgebras.

For every Boolean algebra or MV-algebra P we call MV-congruences the congruences of P as a total algebra, to distinguish them from the aforementioned D-congruences, which form a larger class.

It follows from Definition 2.1.1 that a congruence ~ satisfies the following property:

(A1) if  $a \le b, c \le d, a \sim c$  and  $b \sim d$ , then  $(b \setminus a) \sim (d \setminus c)$ .

We call weak *D*-congruence an equivalence relation satisfying (A1). Weak D-congruence are called simply "congruences" in [8].

Not every weak D-congruence is a D-congruence (Definition 2.1.1), as shown in the following example.

**Example 2.1.1.** Let P be the powerset of the three-element set  $\{a, b, c\}$ , with the usual order by set inclusion and set difference. Let ~ be the equivalence relation whose classes are:

 $\{\varnothing\};$  $\{\{a\}, \{b, c\}\};$  $\{\{b\}, \{a, c\}\};$  $\{\{c\}, \{a, b\}\};$  $\{\{a, b, c\}\}.$ It can be verified

It can be verified that ~ is a weak D-congruence, but there is not a D-poset Q and a D-morphism  $f : P \to Q$  such that ~ is induced by f. Indeed, for such D-morphism it would hold

 $f(\{a\}) \le f(\{a,c\}) = f(\{b\}) \le f(\{a,b\}) = f(\{c\}) \le f(\{b,c\}) = f(\{a\}),$ 

hence  $f(\{a\}) = f(\{b\}) = f(\{c\})$ , but  $\{a\}$ ,  $\{b\}$  and  $\{c\}$  belong to distinct equivalence classes.

Let ~ be a D-congruence on a D-poset P, and let  $a, b \in P$ . We write [a] for the equivalence class of a in the quotient  $P/\sim$ , and  $[a] \leq [b]$  if there are  $c \sim a$  and  $d \sim b$  such that  $c \leq b$ . We will soon see that the use of the symbol of partial order is justified.

If  $[a] \leq [b]$ , we set  $[b] \otimes [a] = [d \setminus c]$ , with c and d as before. By (A1), the class  $[d \setminus c]$  does not depend on the representatives chosen in [a] and [b], hence  $\otimes$  is well defined as a partial operation between equivalence classes.

The following proposition shows that the quotient of a D-poset P with respect to a D-congruence ~ is a D-poset, with the order relation and the partial difference just defined.

**Proposition 2.1.1.** Let P be a D-poset and ~ be a D-congruence on P. Then,  $(P/\sim, \leq, \otimes, [0], [1])$  is a D-poset, and the projection  $\pi : P \to P/\sim, x \mapsto [x]$  is a regular epi D-morphism. The congruence is clopen if and only if  $\pi$  is clopen, and sectional if and only if  $\pi$  is sectional.

*Proof.* Since ~ is a D-congruence, there is a D-poset Q and a regular epi D-morphism  $f: P \to Q$  such that ~ coincides with  $\sim_f$ . By regularity of f, it holds  $[a] \leq [b]$  if and only if  $f(a) \leq f(b)$ . Further,

(1)  $x \in ([b] \otimes [a])$  if and only if  $f(x) = f(b) \setminus f(a)$ .

Let us first verify that  $(P/\sim, \leq)$  is a poset, that is  $\leq$  is reflexive, antisymmetric and transitive on  $P/\sim$ .

It is reflexive because  $a \le a$  implies  $[a] \le [a]$ . It is antisymmetric because  $[a] \le [b]$ and  $[b] \le [a]$  imply  $f(a) \le f(b)$  and  $f(b) \le f(a)$ , hence f(a) = f(b) and [a] = [b]. It is transitive because  $[a] \le [b]$  and  $[b] \le [c]$  imply  $f(a) \le f(b)$  and  $f(b) \le f(c)$ , hence  $f(a) \le f(c)$  and  $[a] \le [c]$ . It is clear that [0] and [1] are, respectively, the lower and the upper bounds of  $(P/\sim, \le)$ .

Let us now verify (D1)-(D3) in the definition of D-poset for  $(P/\sim, \leq, \otimes, [0], [1])$ . (D1) is immediate:  $[a] \otimes [0] = [a \setminus 0] = [a]$ .

For (D2) and (D3), let  $[a] \leq [b] \leq [c]$ . Then,  $f(a) \leq f(b) \leq f(c)$ , hence  $f(c) \setminus f(b) \leq f(c) \setminus f(a)$  and  $(f(c) \setminus f(a)) \setminus (f(c) \setminus f(b)) = f(b) \setminus f(a)$ . By (1), for  $x \in [b] \otimes [a]$ ,  $y \in [c] \otimes [b]$  and  $z \in [c] \otimes [a]$  it holds  $f(x) = f(b) \setminus f(a)$ ,  $f(y) = f(c) \setminus f(b)$  and  $f(z) = f(c) \setminus f(a)$ . Therefore,  $[y] \leq [z]$ , that is  $[c] \otimes [b] \leq [c] \otimes [a]$ , and  $[z] \otimes [y] = [x]$ , that is  $([c] \otimes [a]) \otimes ([c] \otimes [b]) = [b] \otimes [a]$ .

The quotient  $P/\sim$  is isomorphic to Q through the isomorphism  $\phi : P/\sim \rightarrow Q$ defined as  $\phi([a]) = f(a)$  for all  $a \in P$ . Indeed  $\phi$  is a bijective function, it is monotone since  $[a] \leq [b]$  if and only if  $f(a) \leq f(b)$  and, for  $[a] \leq [b], \phi([b] \otimes$  $[a]) = \phi[b] \setminus \phi[a]$  since, by (1),  $[b] \otimes [a] = [x]$  with  $f(x) = f(b) \setminus f(a)$ . Further,  $\phi([0_P]) = f(0_P) = 0_Q$  and  $\phi([1_P]) = f(1_P) = 1_Q$ .

Therefore, the projection  $\pi : P \to P/\sim$ , which is the composition  $\pi = \phi^{-1}f$ , is a regular epi D-morphism and can be taken as f in the definition of congruence. Then, it is immediate that f is clopen or sectional if and only if  $\pi$  is, respectively, clopen or sectional.

We would like to add some conditions to (A1) in order to have an explicit definition of congruence, not relying on the existence of the D-morphism f. In the literature on effect algebra some conditions have been considered which characterize subclasses of congruences [7, 25, 38]. In the next section we will add some conditions to (A1) which give what we will call *clopen* and *sectional* D-congruences.

#### 2.2 Clopen D-congruences

In this section we introduce a class of congruence relation on D-posets which is considered the standard one in some works about effect algebras (see the references below). In our setting, it is convenient to use a new terminology, and start from the notion of *clopen D-equivalence*.

**Definition 2.2.1.** Let P be a D-poset. We call clopen D-equivalence an equivalence relation  $\sim$  on P such that:

- (A1) if  $a \le b, c \le d, a \sim c$  and  $b \sim d$ , then  $(b \setminus a) \sim (d \setminus c)$ ;
- (A2) if  $a \leq b$  and  $b \sim d$ , then there is  $c \in P$  such that  $c \sim a$  and  $c \leq d$ .

From (A1) and (A2), by duality, it follows

(A2') if  $a \le b$  and  $a \sim c$ , then there is d such that  $d \sim b$  and  $c \le d$ .

By (A1), a clopen D-equivalence is also a weak D-congruence. Condition (A2') can be taken instead of (A2) in the definition. As characterized in [11], an open partition of a poset P is a partition such that the up-set of each class (also called *block*) is union of classes. Dually, a closed partition of P is a partition such that the down-set of each class is union of classes. Condition (A2) says that the partition of P induced by ~ is an open partition, and condition (A2') says that the partition of P induced by ~ is a closed partition. Shortly, we can say that a weak D-congruence is a clopen D-equivalence if and only if the associated partition is clopen, that is both open and closed.

Clopen D-equivalences, as equivalence relations on effect algebras, have been often called simply "congruences". See, for instance, [7, 25, 38, 28]. If P is a Boolean algebra, a clopen D-congruence on P has been called *s*-equivalence relation in [41].

Let ~ be a clopen D-equivalence on a D-poset P, and let  $a, b \in P$ . We write [a],  $[a] \leq [b]$  and  $[b] \otimes [a]$  with the same meaning as for congruences. Again, by (A1),  $\otimes$  is well defined as a partial operation between equivalence classes. Further, by (A2) and (A2'), we have  $[a] \leq [b]$  if and only if there is  $c \in P$  such that  $c \sim a$  and  $c \leq b$ , if and only if there is  $d \in P$  such that  $d \sim b$  and  $a \leq d$ .

**Example 2.2.1.** Let P be the powerset of the four-element set  $\{a, b, c, d\}$ , with the usual order by set inclusion, and set difference as partial difference. Let ~ be the equivalence relation whose classes are:

 $\{\varnothing\};$  $\{\{a\},\{b\}\};$  $\{\{c\},\{d\}\};$  $\{\{a,b\}\};$   $\{ \{c, d\} \}; \\ \{ \{a, c\}, \{b, d\} \}; \\ \{ \{a, d\}, \{b, c\} \}; \\ \{ \{a, b, c\}, \{a, b, d\} \}; \\ \{ \{a, c, d\}, \{b, c, d\} \}; \\ \{ \{a, b, c, d\} \}. \\ It can be verified that ~ is a clopen D-equivalence. \end{cases}$ 

We are going to show that clopen D-equivalences and clopen D-congruences are the same thing. One implication is straightforward.

**Proposition 2.2.1.** Let P be a D-poset and ~ be a clopen D-congruence on P. Then, ~ is a clopen D-equivalence.

*Proof.* We recall that ~ is a clopen D-congruence when it is induced by a D-morphism f from P to some D-poset Q, and for all  $a, b \in P$  with  $f(a) \leq f(b)$ , there is  $c \in P$  such that f(c) = f(a) and  $c \leq b$ . Then, (A1) follows from the property of D-morphism of f, and (A2) follows from the fact that f is clopen.  $\Box$ 

In order to show that clopen D-equivalences are clopen D-congruences, we need a few steps.

**Lemma 2.2.1.** Let ~ be a clopen D-equivalence on a D-poset P, and let  $a, b \in P$ . If  $[a] \leq [b]$ , then  $[b] \otimes [a] = [0]$  if and only if  $a \sim b$ .

*Proof.* If  $a \sim b$ , then  $[b] \otimes [a] = [b \setminus b] = [0]$ . Let now  $[a] \leq [b]$  and  $[b] \otimes [a] = [0]$ . Then, there is c such that  $c \sim a$  and  $c \leq b$ . It holds

$$a \sim c = b \smallsetminus (b \smallsetminus c) \sim b \lor 0 = b.$$

**Proposition 2.2.2.** Let P be a D-poset and ~ be a clopen D-equivalence on P. Then,  $(P/\sim, \leq, \otimes, [0], [1])$  is a D-poset, and the projection  $\pi : P \to P/\sim, x \mapsto [x]$  is a clopen epi D-morphism.

*Proof.* Let us first verify that  $(P/\sim, \leq)$  is a poset, that is  $\leq$  is reflexive, antisymmetric and transitive on  $P/\sim$ . Reflexivity is trivial, since  $a \leq a$  implies  $[a] \leq [a]$ .

Antisimmetry: let  $[a] \leq [b]$  and  $[b] \leq [a]$ . Then, by (A2), there are  $a' \sim a$  and  $b' \sim b$  such that  $a' \leq b' \leq a$ . Since  $[a] \otimes [a'] = [a \setminus a] = [0]$ , it holds  $a \setminus a' \sim 0$ . Then, since  $a \setminus b' \leq a \setminus a'$  by (D2), it holds  $a \setminus b' \sim 0$ , that is  $[a] \otimes [b'] = [0]$ . Then, by Lemma 2.2.1, [b'] = [a], that is [a] = [b].

Transitivity: let  $[a] \leq [b]$  and  $[b] \leq [c]$ . Then, by (A2), there are  $a' \sim a$  and  $b' \sim b$  such that  $a' \leq b' \leq c$ . Therefore,  $[a] = [a'] \leq [c]$ .

24

It is clear that [0] and [1] are, respectively, the lower and the upper bounds of  $(P/\sim, \leq)$ .

Let us now verify (D1)-(D3) in the definition of D-poset for  $(P/\sim, \leq, \otimes, [0], [1])$ .

(D1) is immediate:  $[a] \otimes [0] = [a \setminus 0] = [a]$ .

For (D2) and (D3), let  $[a] \leq [b] \leq [c]$ . Then, by (A2), there are  $a' \sim a$  and  $b' \sim b$  such that  $a' \leq b' \leq c$ . By (D2),  $c \setminus b' \leq c \setminus a'$ , hence  $[c \setminus b'] \leq [c \setminus a']$  and  $[c] \otimes [b] \leq [c] \otimes [a]$ .

By (D3),  $(c \setminus a') \setminus (c \setminus b') = b' \setminus a'$ , hence  $[c \setminus a'] \otimes [c \setminus b'] = [b' \setminus a']$  and  $([c] \otimes [a]) \otimes ([c] \otimes [b]) = [b] \otimes [a]$ .

The projection  $\pi : P \to P/\sim$ , defined as  $\pi(x) = [x]$ , is a D-morphism. Indeed, if  $a \le b$  then  $[a] \le [b]$ , and  $[b] \otimes [a] = [b \setminus a]$ . The D-morphism  $\pi$  is clearly epi, it is regular by definition of the order relation  $\le$  in  $P/\sim$ , and it is clopen by (A2) in Definition 2.2.1. Summarizing,  $\pi$  is a clopen epi D-morphism.

**Corollary 2.2.1.** An equivalence relation ~ on a D-poset P is a clopen D-equivalence if and only if it is a clopen D-congruence.

*Proof.* One direction is given by Proposition 2.2.1. On the other hand, if ~ is D-equivalence, let  $Q = P/\sim$ . Then, by Proposition 2.2.2, there is a clopen epi D-morphism  $\pi : P \to Q$  which induces ~.

After Corollary 2.2.1, we will just write "clopen D-congruence" referring either to a clopen D-congruence or to a clopen D-equivalence.

Let us consider again Example 2.2.1. The relation ~ is a clopen D-congruence, hence the quotient  $Q = P/\sim$  is a D-poset, by Proposition 2.2.2.

**Remark 2.2.1.** Example 2.2.1 also illustrates a crucial fact: the quotient of a D-lattice (or even a Boolean D-poset) modulo a clopen D-congruence is not necessarily a lattice. For instance, the classes  $\{\{a\}, \{b\}\}$  and  $\{\{c\}, \{d\}\}$  do not have a supremum. Starting from this observation, it seems desirable to determine some further conditions that, added to (A1) and (A2) of Definition 2.2.1, imply that  $P/\sim$  be a lattice if P is a lattice. Notice that this is the case when lattice operations belong to the signature. For instance, for every MV-congruence of an MV-algebra P, the quotient  $P/\sim$  is an MV-algebra, then a lattice.

In [41] the following condition is considered when P is a Boolean algebra and ~ is a clopen D-congruence on P (there called *s*-equivalence):

(R) For all  $a, b \in P$ , the set  $\{[c \lor d] | c \sim a, d \sim b\}$  contains a smallest element.

In the same [41] the quotient  $P/\sim$  is called *residuable* if it fulfills (R). Then it is proven a result equivalent to the following:

**Theorem 2.2.1.** Let P be a Boolean algebra and ~ be an s-equivalence relation on P such that  $P/\sim$  is residuable (in our terms, a clopen D-congruence satisfying also (R), or an equivalence relation satisfying (A1), (A2) and (R)). Then,  $(U/\sim, \leq , \otimes, [0], [1])$  is a Boolean D-poset.

In the same [41] sufficient conditions for residuability are given.

We would like to determine some conditions for a clopen D-congruence on a D-poset P implying (R) when P is a Boolean algebra. The condition (R) cannot be used in that form for every D-poset, since, if P is not a lattice, the set in (R) is not always defined.

We start with a preliminary definition.

**Definition 2.2.2.** Let P be a D-poset, ~ be a clopen D-congruence on P and  $a, b \in P$ . We say that b is in general position with respect to a (and to ~) if:

(GP) for all  $c \in P$  such that  $[c] \leq [a]$  and  $[c] \leq [b]$ , there is  $d \in P$  such that  $d \sim c$ ,  $d \leq a$  and  $d \leq b$ .

Condition (GP) is equivalent, by duality, to the following:

(GP') for all  $c \in P$  such that  $[a] \leq [c]$  and  $[b] \leq [c]$ , there is  $d \in P$  such that  $d \sim c$ ,  $a \leq d$  and  $b \leq d$ .

**Definition 2.2.3.** *Let* P *be a* D*-poset and* ~ *be a clopen* D*-congruence on* P*. We say that* ~ *is* residuable *if the following further condition holds:* 

(A3) for all  $a, b \in P$ , there is  $d \in P$  such that  $d \sim b$  and d is in general position with respect to a.

**Remark 2.2.2.** We have chosen the term "residuable" in analogy with the residuability condition in [41]. Notice, however, that the property of residuability loses here its original meaning, related to residuated lattices.

A trivial example of residuable clopen D-congruence is the equivalence relation whose classes are singletons. It can be shown that the clopen D-congruence of Example 2.2.1 is not residuable: we do not give details now, it will follow from the next statements.

**Lemma 2.2.2.** *Let P be a D-poset and* ~ *be a residuable clopen D-congruence on P. Then,* 

- (1) If P is a D-lattice then, for all  $a, b \in P$ , [a] and [b] have a least upper bound;
- (2) If P is a D-lattice then, for all  $a, b \in P$ , [a] and [b] have a greatest lower bound;

(3) If P is a Boolean D-poset then, for all  $a, b \in P$ ,

$$([a] \lor [b]) \otimes [b] = [a] \otimes ([a] \land [b]).$$

*Proof.* (1) Let  $d \in P$  such that  $d \sim b$  and d is in general position with respect to a. Then,  $[a \lor d] = [a] \lor [b]$ . Indeed, if  $[a] \le [x]$  and  $[b] \le [x]$ , then, by (GP'), there is  $y \sim x$  such that  $a \le y$  and  $d \le y$ . Therefore,  $a \lor d \le y$ , hence  $[a \lor d] \le [x]$ .

(2) Dually to (1), it holds  $[a \land d] = [a] \land [b]$ , where  $d \sim b$  is in general position with respect to a.

(3) Let  $d \in P$  such that  $d \sim b$  and d is in general position with respect to a. Then, by the two previous points,  $([a] \lor [b]) \otimes [b] = [a \lor d] \otimes [d] = [(a \lor d) \lor d]$  and  $[a] \otimes ([a] \land [b]) = [a] \otimes [a \land d] = [a \lor (a \land d)]$ . The equality in (3) follows from (D3) of the definition of Boolean D-poset.

**Theorem 2.2.2.** Let P be a D-poset and  $\sim$  be a residuable clopen D-congruence on P. Then,

- (1)  $(P/\sim, \leq \otimes, [0], [1])$  is a D-poset;
- (2) if P is a D-lattice, then  $(P/\sim, \leq \otimes, [0], [1])$  is a D-lattice;
- (3) if P is a Boolean D-poset, then  $(P/\sim, \leq 0, [0], [1])$  is a Boolean D-poset.

*Proof.* (1) It follows from Proposition 2.2.2, since ~ is clopen.

(2) It follows from (1) and (2) of Lemma 2.2.2.

(3) The D-poset  $P/\sim$  is a D-lattice by the previous point, and it is a Boolean D-poset by (3) of Lemma 2.2.2.

The following corollary is just a specialization of Theorem 2.2.2 to the case that P is a sharp D-poset. We write it in order to emphasize how unsharp D-poset can arise from sharp D-poset via suitable equivalence relations.

**Corollary 2.2.2.** Let P be a sharp D-poset and  $\sim$  be a residuable clopen D-congruence on P. Then,

- (1)  $(P/\sim, \leq \otimes, [0], [1])$  is a D-poset;
- (2) if P is an orthomodular lattice, then  $(P/\sim, \leq 0, [0], [1])$  is a D-lattice;
- (3) if P is a Boolean algebra, then  $(P/\sim, \leq \otimes, [0], [1])$  is a Boolean D-poset.

Now it is clear why the clopen D-congruence of Example 2.2.1 is not residuable: the D-poset P is a Boolean algebra, but  $P/\sim$  is not a Boolean D-poset (it is not even a lattice).

**Remark 2.2.3.** Corollary 2.2.2 suggests the inverse problem: given a D-poset P, can it be represented by a sharp D-poset Q modulo some kind of D-congruence? In other words, is P homomorphic image of some D-morphism from a sharp D-poset Q? These questions can be answered in several ways, depending on the hypothesis done on congruences and morphisms. In [27, 28, 13] a solution is given when P is an MV-algebra, with the use of the free Boolean extension, that we will define in Section 3.1.

### 2.3 Sectional D-congruences and S-operators

In the previous section we studied clopen D-congruences, a class of congruences of D-posets, and we characterized the quotients. In this section we do a parallel analysis of another class of D-congruences, closely connected with the previous ones. These newly introduced congruences can be characterized as the equivalence relations induced by some internal operators, formally similar to the modal operator used in modal logic [6], or the internal state operators defined on MV-algebras [17].

**Definition 2.3.1.** Let P be a D-poset. We call sectional operator (shortly, S-operator) on P a function  $\sigma : P \to P$  such that, for all  $a, b \in P$ :

- (S1)  $\sigma(\sigma(a)) = \sigma(a);$
- (S2) if  $a \leq b$ , then  $\sigma(a) \leq \sigma(b)$ ;
- (S3) if  $a \le b$ , then  $\sigma(b \setminus a) = \sigma(\sigma(b) \setminus \sigma(a))$ .

We say that an S-operator  $\sigma : P \to P$  is *strict* if  $\sigma(0) = 0$  and one of the following equivalent conditions hold:

$$\sigma(a) = 0$$
 only for  $a = 0$ ;

if a < b, then  $\sigma(a) < \sigma(b)$ .

If  $\sigma$  is strict, it also holds  $\sigma(a) = 1$  if and only if a = 1.

Notice that the identity  $\iota: P \to P \ (x \mapsto x)$  is a strict S-operator.

**Definition 2.3.2.** Let P be a D-poset. We call sectional D-equivalence an equivalence relation ~ on P induced by some S-operator. In other words, ~ is a sectional D-equivalence if there is  $\sigma : P \to P$  such that  $\sigma$  is an S-operator and ~ coincides with  $\sim_{\sigma}$ .

Let  $\sim$  be a sectional D-equivalence. We say that  $\sim$  is *strict* if it is induced by a strict S-operator. It is easy to see that  $\sim$  is strict if and only if one of the following two conditions hold:

$$[0] = \{0\};$$
  
if  $a < b$ , then  $[a] \neq [b]$ 

If ~ is strict, it also holds  $[1] = \{1\}$ .

The sectional D-equivalence induced by the identity S-operator, which is strict, is the minimal equivalence relation (the one whose equivalence classes are singletons).

**Example 2.3.1.** Let P be the powerset of the three-element set  $\{a, b, c\}$ , with the usual order by set inclusion and set difference. Let  $\sigma : P \rightarrow P$  be defined as follows:

 $\begin{aligned}
\sigma(\emptyset) &= \emptyset; \\
\sigma(\{a\}) &= \sigma(\{b\}) = \sigma(\{c\}) = \{a\}; \\
\sigma(\{a,b\}) &= \sigma(\{a,c\}) = \sigma(\{b,c\}) = \{a,b\}; \\
\sigma(\{a,b,c\}) &= \{a,b,c\}.
\end{aligned}$ 

It can be verified that  $\sigma$  is a strict S-operator. It induces the strict sectional D-equivalence whose classes are:

 $\{\emptyset\};\$  $\{\{a\},\{b\},\{c\}\};\$  $\{\{a,b\},\{a,c\},\{b,c\}\};\$  $\{\{a,b,c\}\}.$ *Two subsets are equivalent by* ~ *if they have the same cardinality.* 

**Remark 2.3.1.** In [17] a notion of internal state has been introduced for MValgebras, in order to provide an algebraic theory of states of MV-algebras.

An MV-algebra with internal state (shortly, SMV-algebra) is a structure  $(L, \sigma) = (L, \oplus, \neg, \sigma, 0)$ , where  $(L, \oplus, \neg, 0)$  is an MV-algebra and  $\sigma : L \to L$  is a unary operator on L satisfying, for all  $a, b \in L$ :

(IS1)  $\sigma(0) = 0;$ 

- (IS2)  $\sigma(\neg a) = \neg \sigma(a);$
- (IS3)  $\sigma(a \oplus b) = \sigma(a) \oplus \sigma(b \ominus (a \odot b));$
- (IS4)  $\sigma(\sigma(a) \oplus \sigma(b)) = \sigma(a) \oplus \sigma(b)$

An SMV-algebra  $(L, \sigma)$  is said to be faithful if it satisfies the quasi-equation:  $\sigma(a) = 0$  implies a = 0.

It can be shown that, if L is an MV-algebra and  $\sigma : L \to L$  is an internal state of L, then  $\sigma$  is an S-operator on L. If  $(L, \sigma)$  is faithful, then the S-operator  $\sigma$  is strict.

However, if  $\sigma : L \to L$  is an S-operator, it is not necessarily an internal state. In particular (IS2) does not always hold for an S-operator. For instance, in Example 2.3.1,  $\sigma(\neg\{a\}) = \sigma(\{b,c\}) = \{a,b\}$ , while  $\neg\sigma(\{a\}) = \neg\{a\} = \{b,c\}$ .

For an S-operator, it holds the weaker

$$\sigma(\neg a) = \sigma(\neg \sigma(a)),$$

which can be easily deduced by (S3) since  $\neg a = 1 \land a$ .

Now, following similar lines as for clopen D-congruences, we are going to show that sectional D-equivalences coincide with sectional D-congruences.

**Lemma 2.3.1.** Let ~ be a sectional D-equivalence on a D-poset P. Then, ~ is a weak D-congruence.

*Proof.* We verify (A1). Let  $a \le b, c \le d, a \sim c$  and  $b \sim d$ . Then, by (S2),

$$\sigma(b \smallsetminus a) = \sigma(\sigma(b) \lor \sigma(a)) = \sigma(\sigma(d) \lor \sigma(c)) = \sigma(d \lor c),$$

hence  $\sigma(b \setminus a) \sim (d \setminus c)$ .

We observe that, when  $[a] \leq [b], [b] \otimes [a] = [\sigma(b) \setminus \sigma(a)].$ 

**Proposition 2.3.1.** Let P be a D-poset and ~ be a sectional D-congruence on P. Then, ~ is a sectional D-equivalence.

*Proof.* We recall that ~ is a sectional D-congruence when it is induced by a D-morphism  $f: P \to Q$  for some D-poset Q and there is an idempotent function  $\sigma: P \to P$  such that  $\sigma(a) = \sigma(b)$  if and only if f(a) = f(b), and  $f(a) \leq f(b)$  implies  $\sigma(a) \leq \sigma(b)$ . It is clear from this definition that ~ is induced by  $\sigma$ , that is ~ coincides with ~<sub>f</sub> and with ~<sub>\sigma</sub>. Then, property (S1)-(S3) for  $\sigma$  follow immediately from the properties of D-morphisms of f.

Similarly as for clopen D-congruences, we have the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.3.2.** Let P be a D-poset and ~ be a sectional D-equivalence on P. Then,  $(P/\sim, \leq, \otimes, [0], [1])$  is a D-poset, and the projection  $\pi : P \to P/\sim, x \mapsto [x]$  is a sectional epi D-morphism.

*Proof.* Let  $\sigma : P \to P$  an S-operator associated with ~. It holds  $[a] \leq [b]$  if and only if  $\sigma(a) \leq \sigma(b)$ , hence the relation  $\leq$  on  $P/\sim$  is isomorphic to the order relation  $\leq$  restricted to  $\sigma(P)$ , the image of  $\sigma$ . Therefore,  $(P/\sim, \leq)$  is a poset.

Clearly, [0] and [1] are, respectively, the lower and the upper bounds of  $(P/\sim, \leq)$ .

Let us now verify (D1)-(D3) in the definition of D-poset for  $(P/\sim, \leq, \otimes, [0], [1])$ .

(D1) is immediate:  $[a] \otimes [0] = [a \setminus 0] = [a]$ .

For (D2) and (D3), let  $[a] \leq [b] \leq [c]$ . Then,  $\sigma(a) \leq \sigma(b) \leq \sigma(c)$ , hence, by (D2),  $\sigma(c) \setminus \sigma(b) \leq \sigma(c) \setminus \sigma(a)$ , therefore  $[c] \otimes [b] = [\sigma(c) \setminus \sigma(b)] \leq [\sigma(c) \setminus \sigma(a)] = [c] \otimes [a]$ .

From the two equalities

$$([c] \otimes [a]) \otimes ([c] \otimes [b]) = [(\sigma(c) \setminus \sigma(a)) \setminus (\sigma(c) \setminus \sigma(b))],$$

and

$$[b] \otimes [a] = [\sigma(b) \smallsetminus \sigma(a)]$$

it follows, by (D3), that

$$([c] \otimes [a]) \otimes ([c] \otimes [b]) = [b] \otimes [a].$$

The projection  $\pi : P \to P/\sim$ , defined as  $\pi(x) = [x]$ , is a D-morphism. Indeed, if  $a \le b$  then  $[a] \le [b]$ , and  $[b] \otimes [a] = [b \setminus a]$ . It is obvious that  $\pi$  is epi and it is sectional by the same function  $\sigma$ .

Summarizing Proposition 2.3.1 and Proposition 2.3.2, we have the following corollary.

**Corollary 2.3.1.** An equivalence relation  $\sim$  on a D-poset P is a sectional D-equivalence if and only if it is a sectional D-congruence.

After Corollary 2.3.1, we will just write "sectional D-congruence" referring either to a sectional D-congruence or to a sectional D-equivalence.

The following results show that sectional D-congruences are similar to residuable clopen D-congruences (considered in Section 2.2) from the point of view of the structure of the quotients.

Lemma 2.3.2. Let P be a D-poset and ~ be a sectional D-congruence on P. Then,

- (1) If  $\sigma(a)$  and  $\sigma(b)$  have a least upper bound, then [a] and [b] have a least upper bound;
- (2) If  $\sigma(a)$  and  $\sigma(b)$  have a greatest lower bound, then [a] and [b] have a greatest lower bound;
- (3) If both  $\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b)$  and  $\sigma(a) \land \sigma(b)$  exist, and  $(\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b)) \lor \sigma(b) = \sigma(a) \lor (\sigma(a) \land \sigma(b))$ , then  $([a] \lor [b]) \oslash [b] = [a] \oslash ([a] \land [b])$ .

*Proof.* (1) We show that  $[\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b)] = [a] \lor [b]$ . If  $[a] \le [c]$  and  $[b] \le [c]$ , then  $\sigma(a) \le \sigma(c)$  and  $\sigma(b) \le \sigma(c)$ , hence  $\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b) \le \sigma(c)$ , which implies  $[\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b)] \le [c]$ .

- (2) It is dual to (1).
- (3) It holds, by (1),

$$([a] \lor [b]) \otimes [b] = [\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b)] \otimes [b] = [(\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b)) \lor \sigma(b)].$$

On the other hand, by (2),

$$[a] \otimes ([a] \land [b]) = [a] \otimes [\sigma(a) \land \sigma(b)] = [\sigma(a) \lor (\sigma(a) \land \sigma(b))].$$

Then, by hypothesis, it follows  $([a] \lor [b]) \otimes [b] = [a] \otimes ([a] \land [b])$ .

**Theorem 2.3.1.** Let P be a D-poset and  $\sim$  be a sectional D-congruence on P. Then,

- (1)  $(P/\sim, \leq \otimes, [0], [1])$  is a D-poset;
- (2) if P is a D-lattice, then  $(P/\sim, \leq 0, [0], [1])$  is a D-lattice;
- (3) if P is a Boolean D-poset, then  $(P/\sim, \leq \otimes, [0], [1])$  is a Boolean D-poset.

*Proof.* (1) It is part of Proposition 2.3.2.

(2) It follows from (1) and (2) of Lemma 2.3.2.

(3)] The D-poset  $P/\sim$  is a D-lattice for the previous point, and it is a Boolean D-poset for (3) of Lemma 2.3.2.

**Remark 2.3.2.** Theorem 2.3.1 implies that a clopen D-congruence is not always a sectional D-congruence. One case is given in Example 2.2.1. There, the quotient  $P/\sim$  is not a lattice, therefore  $\sim$  cannot be sectional. For the same reasons, the projection  $\pi : P \rightarrow P/\sim$  to the quotient is an example of clopen D-morphism which is not sectional.

As for residuable clopen D-congruences, we can specialize Theorem 2.3.1 to sharp D-posets and conclude that, if P is a sharp D-poset,

- $(P/\sim, \leq \otimes, [0], [1])$  is a D-poset;
- if P is an orthomodular lattice, then  $(P/\sim, \leq 0, [0], [1])$  is a D-lattice;
- if P is a Boolean algebra, then  $(P/\sim, \leq 0, [0], [1])$  is a Boolean D-poset.

We now focus our attention on the images of S-operators.

We write  $\sigma(P)$  for the image of an S-operator  $\sigma : P \to P$ . For all  $\sigma(a) \le \sigma(b)$ , we write  $\sigma(b) \otimes \sigma(a) = \sigma(\sigma(b) \setminus \sigma(a))$ . Notice that, for  $a \le b$ , it holds  $[b] \otimes [a] = [\sigma(b) \otimes \sigma(a)]$ , and, in general,  $\sigma(b) \otimes \sigma(a) \ne \sigma(b) \setminus \sigma(a)$ . For instance, in 2.3.1,  $\sigma(\{a,b\}) \otimes \sigma(\{a\}) = \{a\}$ , while  $\sigma(\{a,b\}) \setminus \sigma(\{a\}) = \{b\}$ .

With this notation, the following proposition is an immediate consequence of Theorem 2.3.1 and Proposition 2.3.2.

**Theorem 2.3.2.** Let P be a D-poset and  $\sigma : P \rightarrow P$  be an S-operator. Then,

•  $(\sigma(P), \leq, \otimes, \sigma(0), \sigma(1))$  is a D-poset;

#### 2.3. SECTIONAL D-CONGRUENCES AND S-OPERATORS

- *if* P *is a* D*-lattice, then*  $(\sigma(P), \leq \otimes, \sigma(0), \sigma(1))$  *is a* D*-lattice;*
- if P is a Boolean D-poset, then (σ(P), ≤ ⊗, σ(0), σ(1)) is a Boolean D-poset;
- the function  $m: P \to \sigma(P)$ ,  $x \mapsto \sigma(x)$  is a sectional epi D-morphism.

Notice that, when P is a D-lattice, the least upper bound of  $\sigma(a)$  and  $\sigma(b)$  in  $\sigma(P)$  is  $\sigma(\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b))$  and not, in general,  $\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b)$ . It is  $\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b)$  when  $\sigma$  is strict.

We recall that an unary operator  $\sigma$  on a D-poset P is a strict S-operator if it satisfies:

(S1')  $\sigma(0) = 0;$ 

(S2') if a < b, then  $\sigma(a) < \sigma(b)$ ;

(S3') if  $a \le b$ , then  $\sigma(b \setminus a) = \sigma(\sigma(b) \setminus \sigma(a))$ .

In this formulation we do not need to require the idempotence of  $\sigma$ , which follows from (S1') - (S3'). Indeed,  $\sigma(\sigma(a)) = \sigma(\sigma(a) \setminus \sigma(0)) = \sigma(a \setminus 0) = \sigma(a)$ .

**Proposition 2.3.3.** Let P be a D-lattice and  $\sigma : P \to P$  be a strict S-operator. Then  $(\sigma(P), \leq \otimes, 0, 1)$  is a D-lattice, and  $(\sigma(P), \vee, \wedge, 0, 1)$  is a sublattice of  $(P, \vee, \wedge, 0, 1)$ .

*Proof.* First we observe that, if  $\sigma(a) \le a$ , then  $\sigma(a) = a$ . Indeed, suppose  $\sigma(a) < a$ . From (S2') and idempotence of  $\sigma$  it would follow that  $\sigma(a) = \sigma\sigma(a) < \sigma(a)$ , which cannot hold. Then we have  $\sigma(1) = 1$ , since  $\sigma(1) \le 1$  as 1 is the upper bound of P. Summarizing, the bounds of  $\sigma(P)$  are 0 and 1.

It holds  $\sigma(a) = \sigma\sigma(a) \le \sigma(\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b))$ , and similarly  $\sigma(b) \le \sigma(\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b))$ . Hence,  $\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b) \le \sigma(\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b))$ . From the previous observation, the equality follows,  $\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b) = \sigma(\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b))$ . We have already proved that  $\sigma(\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b))$  is the least upper bound in  $(\sigma(P), \le)$ , therefore  $\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b)$  is the least upper bound in  $(\sigma(P), \le)$ . Similarly,  $\sigma(a) \land \sigma(b)$  is the greatest lower bound. We can conclude that  $(\sigma(P), \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is a sublattice of  $(P, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$ .

For clarity we specify Theorem 2.3.2 to sharp D-posets and strict S-operators.

**Corollary 2.3.2.** Let P be a sharp D-poset and  $\sigma : P \rightarrow P$  be a strict S-operator. *Then,* 

- $(\sigma(P), \leq, \otimes, 0, 1)$  is a D-poset;
- *if* P *is an orthomodular lattice, then*  $(\sigma(P), \leq \otimes, 0, 1)$  *is a* D*-lattice;*
- *if* P *is a Boolean algebra, then*  $(\sigma(P), \leq \otimes, 0, 1)$  *is a Boolean D-poset;*

• the function  $m: P \to \sigma(P), x \mapsto \sigma(x)$  is a sectional epi D-morphism.

Let us consider again Example 2.3.1. The D-poset P is a Boolean algebra, and  $\sigma$  is a strict S-operator. Therefore,  $\sigma(P)$  is a Boolean D-poset. Indeed, it is isomorphic to the MV-chain  $\{0, 1/3, 2/3, 1\}$ .

### 2.4 Boolean algebras with S-operators

In this chapter we have studied different kinds of equivalence relations on D-posets.

In the sequel, we will be concerned only with S-operators and sectional D-congruences on Boolean algebras. As we have seen previously, both the quotient of a Boolean algebra U modulo a sectional D-congruence and the image of an S-operator on U have a structure of MV-algebra.

The operations of this MV-algebra have a simple interpretation in terms of minima and maxima, as in the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.4.1.** Let  $(U, \lor, \land, \lor, 0, 1)$  be a Boolean algebra and let ~ be a sectional *D*-congruence on *U*. Then, for all [a] and [b] in the MV-algebra  $U/\sim$ , we have

- (1)  $[b] \ominus [a] = \min\{[y x] \mid x \sim a, y \sim b\};$
- (2)  $[a] \lor [b] = \min\{[x \lor y] \mid x \sim a, y \sim b\};$
- (3)  $[a] \land [b] = \max\{[x \land y] \mid x \sim a, y \sim b\};$
- (4)  $[a] \oplus [b] = \max\{[x \lor y] \mid x \sim a, y \sim b\};$
- (5)  $[a] \odot [b] = \min\{[x \land y] \mid x \sim a, y \sim b\};$
- (6)  $[a] \rightarrow [b] = \max\{[x \rightarrow y] \mid x \sim a, y \sim b\}.$

*Proof.* (1) It holds  $[b] \ominus [a] = [b] \odot ([a] \land [b]) = [\sigma(b)] \odot [\sigma(a) \land \sigma(b)]$ . On the other hand,  $[b-a] = [b \land (a \land b)] = [\sigma(b)] \odot [\sigma(a \land b)]$ . For the monotonicity of  $\sigma$ , it holds  $\sigma(a \land b) \le \sigma(a) \land \sigma(b)$ , hence  $[\sigma(a \land b)] \le [\sigma(a) \land \sigma(b)]$ . Then, from the antitonicity of  $\heartsuit$ , it follows  $[b] \ominus [a] \le [b-a]$ . It also holds

$$[b] \ominus [a] = [\sigma(b)] \odot [\sigma(a) \land \sigma(b)]$$

and this is equal to

$$[\sigma(b) \setminus (\sigma(a) \land \sigma(b))] = [\sigma(b) - \sigma(a)],$$

hence  $[b] \ominus [a] = [y - x]$  for some  $x, y \in L$ .. We can conclude that  $[b] \ominus [a] = \min\{[y - x] \mid x \sim a, y \sim b\}.$ 

34

(2) By the property of least upper bound of  $[a] \vee [b]$ , it holds  $[a] \vee [b] \leq [x \vee y]$  for all  $x \sim a$  and  $y \sim b$ . Furthermore,  $[a] \vee [b] = [\sigma(a) \vee \sigma(b)]$ , hence  $[a] \vee [b]$  is the minimum of the set at second term.

(3), (4), (5) and (6) follow from (1) and (2), since these three operation can be derived from  $\ominus$  and  $\lor$ , for instance, the following steps:

 $\begin{array}{l} \neg x = 1 \ominus x; \\ x \wedge y = \neg (\neg x \vee \neg y); \\ x \odot y = y \ominus (\neg x); \\ x \oplus y = \neg (\neg x \odot \neg y); \\ x \rightarrow y = \neg x \oplus y. \end{array}$ 

**Remark 2.4.1.** Proposition 2.4.1 provides an interpretation of operations of an *MV*-algebra as minima or maxima of sets of classes taken in a Boolean algebra. In this context,  $\oplus$  can be viewed as a strong disjunction and  $\lor$  as a weak disjunction;  $\land$  can be viewed as a weak conjunction and  $\odot$  as a strong conjunction.

Notice that, when the D-congruence in 2.4.1 is a congruence of Boolean algebra (an MV-congruence), the quotient is again a Boolean algebra, and the minima and maxima in 2.4.1 are trivial, since there is only one class in every set to minimize or maximize. In this case, strong disjunction and weak disjunction coincide, as well as weak conjunction and strong conjunction. The possibility to represent an MV-algebra starting from the "simpler" structure of Boolean algebra is given by the fact that the equivalence relation is weaker, in general, than an MV-congruence.

We formulate Proposition 2.4.1 in terms of strict S-operators.

**Proposition 2.4.2.** Let  $(U, \lor, \land, \lor, 0, 1)$  be a Boolean algebra. Let  $\sigma : U \to U$  be a strict S-operator. Then, for all  $\sigma(a)$  and  $\sigma(b)$  in the MV-algebra  $\sigma(U)$ , we have

 $\sigma(b) \ominus \sigma(a) = \min\{\sigma(y-x) \mid \sigma(x) = \sigma(a), \sigma(y) = \sigma(b)\};$   $\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b) = \min\{\sigma(x \lor y) \mid \sigma(x) = \sigma(a), \sigma(y) = \sigma(b)\};$   $\sigma(a) \land \sigma(b) = \max\{\sigma(x \land y) \mid \sigma(x) = \sigma(a), \sigma(y) = \sigma(b)\};$   $\sigma(a) \ominus \sigma(b) = \max\{\sigma(x \lor y) \mid \sigma(x) = \sigma(a), \sigma(y) = \sigma(b)\};$   $\sigma(a) \ominus \sigma(b) = \min\{\sigma(x \land y) \mid \sigma(x) = \sigma(a), \sigma(y) = \sigma(b)\};$  $\sigma(a) \rightarrow \sigma(b) = \max\{\sigma(x \rightarrow y) \mid \sigma(x) = \sigma(a), \sigma(y) = \sigma(b)\}.$ 

The result for general S-operators is analogous, but in the sequel we will be concerned only with strict S-operators.

### Chapter 3

## **GBL-algebras and their dual**

Generalized BL-algebras, shortly GBL-algebras, are the divisible residuated lattices. They have been introduced in [2] as a generalization of BL-algebras (short term for *Basic Logic algebras* [26, 10]). GBL-algebras can provide the semantics for a generalization of Basic Logic where the axiom of prelinearity does not hold. The variety of GBL-algebras contains both the variety of BL-algebras (and so MValgebras) and that of Heyting algebras, and can be seen as a *fuzzy extension* of the latter. Informally, GBL-algebras generalize Heyting algebras in a similar way as MV-algebras generalize Boolean algebras.

In [14] finite GBL-algebras are represented in terms of Heyting algebras with an equivalence relation, there called *indiscernibility relation*. Regarding this relation, two assumptions are made:

- it is an equivalence relation given by a subgroup G of the automorphism group of the Heyting algebra: two elements are *indiscernible* if there is an automorphism in G mapping one to the other;
- if two chains are *elementwise indiscernible*, then there is a unique automorphism in G bringing one chain to the other.

The pair made of a Heyting algebra and an indiscernibility relation is called *GBL*pair. This name is justified by the correspondence between finite GBL-pairs and finite GBL-algebras. Indeed, every finite GBL-algebra can be represented as a GBL-pair (H, G). In this representation, the elements of a GBL-algebra are equivalence classes with respect to the relation induced by G. The operations of the so obtained GBL-algebra have a particularly intuitive meaning in this model: they are infima or suprema of the sets of classes which result from operations of H between elements chosen in the two initial classes. This fact is analogous to what we have shown in Section 2.4 for MV-algebras.

We report the main results of [14] and we show that an indiscernibility relation is a clopen D-congruence when H is a Boolean algebra.

We then follow another approach to represent GBL-algebras. In Section 2.3 we have shown that an S-operator on a Boolean algebra gives rise to an MV-algebra. An inverse of this result is proven in [27]: every MV-algebra L can be represented in this way, by considering the *free Boolean extension* of L. In [36] it was proven that closed element in a closure algebra (a Boolean algebra with a closure operator) form a Brouwerian algebra (the dual structure of a Heyting algebra). Conversely, every Brouwerian algebra L is the algebra of closed elements of a closure algebra, where the Boolean algebra is the free Boolean extension of L. These two results, about MV-algebras and Brouwerian algebras, suggest us to consider the interplay between an S-operator and a closure operator on a Boolean algebra, with some hypothesis of commutation between the operators. We prove that the image of the composition of two such operators has a structure dual to a GBL-algebra.

GBL\*algebras were introduced in [15] as the structures obtained by adding an operation of monoidal sum on GBL-algebras. The motivation was mainly to have a good definition of state of a GBL-algebra, which generalizes states of MV-algebras as defined in [37], and finitely additive probability measures on Gödel algebras as defined in [1]. Under some hypothesis, the operation of monoidal sum can be defined in a unique way on finite GBL-algebras. It coincides with the usual sum in MV-algebras, and with the join in Heyting algebras. Therefore, GBL\*algebras, as GBL-algebras, are a common generalization of MV-algebras and Heyting algebras. We report some results of [15] about GBL\*algebras, in particular the unicity of the monoidal sum on finite GBL-algebra (hence, a bijection between finite GBL-algebras and GBL\*algebras), the definition of states of a GBL\*algebra, and their characterization in the finite case: for every finite GBL\*algebra X the states of X are determined by their restriction to the subalgebra of idempotents of X, which is a valuation of distributive lattice.

Finally, we prove that, for an S-operator and a closure operator on a Boolean algebra, the image of the composition of the two operators has a structure dual to a GBL\*algebra, strengthening the previously mentioned result.

### 3.1 Closure and interior algebras

This section is a survey of some results concerning interior and closure operator, that will be used in the sequel for the representation of GBL-algebras and dual GBL-algebras.

Closure algebras have been introduced in [35] as an apparatus for an algebraic treatment of point-set topology. They have been further developed in [36] by the same authors, and by several others (see, for instance, [3]), often considering the dual concept of *interior algebra*.

Definition 3.1.1. A Brouwerian algebra is a structure

$$(L, \lor, \land, \div, 1, 0)$$

of type (2,2,2,0,0) such that  $(L,\vee,\wedge,1,0)$  is a bounded lattice, and, for all  $a,b,c \in L, c \leq a \vee b$  if and only if  $c \doteq a \leq b$ .

It follows from the definition that

$$b \doteq a = \min\{x \in L \mid b \le a \lor x\}.$$

Notice that many authors (see, for instance, [20]) call "Brouwerian algebras" other structures, different from the one just defined here, though related. Our definition of Brouwerian algebra follows [36], with the only difference that we include both bounds in the signature.

**Definition 3.1.2.** Let U be a Boolean algebra. A closure operator on U is a function  $\mu: U \rightarrow U$  such that the following identities hold:

$$\mu(0) = 0;$$
  

$$a \le \mu(a);$$
  

$$\mu\mu(a) = \mu(a);$$
  

$$\mu(a \lor b) = \mu(a) \lor \mu(b).$$

An element  $x \in U$  is said *closed* if  $\mu(x) = x$ . The pair  $(U, \mu)$  is called *closure algebra*. It is easy to prove that, for a closure operator  $\mu$ ,

if 
$$a \le b$$
, then  $\mu(a) \le \mu(b)$ ;  
 $\mu(1) = 1$ ;  
 $\mu(a) \land \mu(b)$  is closed.

Therefore,  $(\mu(U), \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is a sublattice of U.

The following result is given in [36].

**Theorem 3.1.1.** Let  $(U, \lor, \land, -, 1, 0)$  be a Boolean algebra. Set, for all  $a, b \in U$ ,  $\mu(b) \doteq \mu(a) = \mu(b-a)$ . Then,  $(\mu(U), \lor, \land, \doteq, 0, 1)$  is a Brouwerian algebra.

Theorem 3.1.1 has a converse: every Brouwerian algebra is the algebra of closed elements in some closure algebra. To establish this result, in [36], it is used the concept of *free Boolean extension* of a distributive lattice, that we briefly explain here.

Let U be a Boolean algebra and  $L \subseteq U$  be a sublattice of U (sharing the bounds with U). Since U, as a lattice, is distributive, L is distributive as well.

We say that L generates U if every element  $x \in U$  can be obtained with a finite number of lattice operations  $\lor$ ,  $\land$  and difference – applied to a finite number of elements of L.

Let now L be a distributive lattice (we remind, we will always assume a lattice to be bounded). Up to isomorphism, there is a unique Boolean algebra U such that L is a sublattice of U, and L generates U [24].

This Boolean algebra is called the free Boolean algebra generated by L, more shortly the *free Boolean extension* of L, and we will denote it by U(L). The denomination "free" is justified by the fact that U(L) satisfies the universal property of the free object with respect to the embedding of L as a lattice. Let us denote by  $e: L \rightarrow U(L)$  the embedding of L in U(L). Then, U(L) satisfies:

 for every Boolean algebra V and every bounded lattice morphism f : L → V, there is a unique morphism of Boolean algebras g : U → V such that f = ge.

For details, see [24].

A more direct characterization of U(L) is given in [34], one of the first works where the free Boolean extension is obtained, while in [40] the free Boolean extension is considered in the context of valuations to rings (the free Boolean extension can be obtained from a particular case of valuation ring, when the ring has two elements)

The following is a fundamental property of free Boolean extensions. For every element  $x \in U(L)$ , there are  $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{2n}$  with  $x_1 < x_2 < \ldots < x_{2n}$  such that

$$x = (x_{2n} - x_{2n-1}) \lor \ldots \lor (x_4 - x_3) \lor (x_2 - x_1).$$

In other words, every element of U(L) can be represented by an even-cardinality chain of elements of L [24]. We say that  $(x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{2n})$  is a *chain-representation* of x.

Now we can state the result, given in [36], which completes Theorem 3.1.1.

**Theorem 3.1.2.** Let  $(L, \lor, \land, \doteq, 0, 1)$  be a Brouwerian algebra and U(L) be the free Boolean extension of its lattice reduct. Let  $x \in U(L)$  and  $(x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{2n})$  be a chain-representation of x, with  $x_1 < x_2 < \ldots < x_{2n}$ . Then, the value

$$(x_{2n} \div x_{2n-1}) \lor \ldots \lor (x_4 \div x_3) \lor (x_2 \div x_1).$$

does not depend on the choice of the chain in the representation of x. Further, set  $\mu: U(L) \to U(L)$  as

$$\mu(x) = (x_{2n} \div x_{2n-1}) \lor \ldots \lor (x_4 \div x_3) \lor (x_2 \div x_1)$$

for every  $x \in U(L)$  and any chain-representation of x. Then,  $\mu$  is a closure operator,  $\mu(U(L)) = L$  and  $\mu(b) \div \mu(a) = \mu(b-a)$ .

The concepts dual to Brouwerian algebra and closure operator are, respectively, *Heyting algebra* and *interior operator*.

**Definition 3.1.3.** A Heyting algebra is a structure

$$(L, \land, \lor, \rightarrow, 1, 0)$$

of type (2,2,2,0,0) such that  $(L, \lor, \land, 1, 0)$  is a bounded lattice, and, for all  $a, b, c \in L$ ,  $a \land b \leq c$  if and only if  $b \leq a \rightarrow c$ .

It follows from the definition that

$$a \to b = \max\{x \in L \mid a \land x \le b\}.$$

**Definition 3.1.4.** Let U be a Boolean algebra. An interior operator on U is a function  $\lambda : U \rightarrow U$  such that the following identities hold:

$$\lambda(1) = 1;$$
  

$$\lambda(a) \le a;$$
  

$$\lambda\lambda(a) = \lambda(a);$$
  

$$\lambda(a \land b) = \lambda(a) \land \lambda(b).$$

An element  $x \in U$  is said open if  $\lambda(x) = x$ . The pair  $(U, \lambda)$  is called *interior algebra*.

All the result concerning Heyting algebras and interior operators can be obtained from the analogous ones concerning, respectively, Brouwerian algebras and closure operators, by reversing the order relation, exchanging  $\vee$  with  $\wedge$  and replacing  $\div$  with  $\rightarrow$ , and vice-versa.

If  $\mu : U \to U$  is a closure operator, the operator  $\lambda : U \to U$  defined as  $\lambda(x) = \neg \mu(\neg x)$  is an interior operator, and the analogous fact holds by exchanging the role of  $\mu$  and  $\lambda$ .

For an algebraic study of interior algebras, see, for instance, [3].

#### **3.2** GBL-pair representation of finite GBL-algebras

In this section we introduce GBL-algebras, we recall some basic facts about commutative bounded GBL-algebras and the representation of finite GBL-algebras as GBL-pairs. We do not prove most of the statements in this section. For the algebraic aspects, we refer the reader to [32, 21, 19] for a general treatment of the subject, [29, 30] (especially for the finite case), [31] for results about representation of GBL-algebras, and the handbook [20]. For the representation of finite GBL-algebras as GBL-pairs, we refer to [14]. Definition 3.2.1. A commutative bounded GBL-algebra is a structure

$$(X, \lor, \odot, \rightarrow, 1, 0)$$

of type (2, 2, 2, 0, 0) such that  $(X, \odot, 1)$  is a commutative monoid, the following identities hold:

$$\begin{aligned} a \to a &= 1; \\ a \odot (a \to b) &= b \odot (b \to a); \\ (a \odot b) \to c &= b \to (a \to c), \end{aligned}$$

and  $(X, \land, \lor, 1, 0)$  is a lattice, where  $a \land b = a \odot (a \rightarrow b)$ .

It can be proven that, for every GBL-algebra X, the lattice  $(X, \land, \lor, 1, 0)$  is distributive.

In every GBL-algebra X, for all  $a, b \in X$ ,

$$a \to b = \max\{x \in X \mid a \odot x \le b\}.$$

This property shows that  $\rightarrow$  is the *residuum* of  $\odot$ .

GBL-algebras have a weaker axiomatization, which does not require commutativity and bound. However, as shown in [29], all finite GBL-algebras are commutative (and they are obviously bounded). In the sequel, we are mainly concerned with finite GBL-algebras, and by "GBL-algebra" we will always mean "commutative bounded GBL-algebra".

**Remark 3.2.1.** We choose to axiomatize GBL-algebras as in Definition 3.2.1 in order to rely on the definition of hoop. A hoop [20] is a structure  $(X \odot, \rightarrow, 1)$  of type (2,2,0) where  $(X, \odot, 1)$  is a commutative monoid and the following identities hold:

$$\begin{aligned} a &\to a = 1; \\ a &\odot (a \to b) = b &\odot (b \to a); \\ (a &\odot b) &\to c = b \to (a \to c). \end{aligned}$$

Every hoop X has a meet-semilattice reduct, and it has a lattice reduct if and only if X is the join-free reduct of a GBL-algebra [20, 19].

In the sequel it will be sometimes convenient to extend the signature and define a GBL-algebra as a structure

$$(X, \land, \lor, \odot, \rightarrow, 1, 0)$$

of type (2, 2, 2, 2, 0, 0) such that  $(X, \odot, 0)$  is a commutative monoid,  $(X, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is a lattice and the following identities hold:

$$a \to a = 1;$$
  

$$a \odot (a \to b) = a \land b;$$
  

$$(a \odot b) \to c = b \to (a \to c).$$

We now briefly introduce idempotent elements in GBL-algebras.

**Definition 3.2.2.** An element a of a GBL-algebra X is idempotent if  $a \odot a = a$ .

We denote by I(X) the poset of idempotents of X, endowed with the order relation induced by X.

**Proposition 3.2.1.** Let X be a finite GBL-algebra. Then:

I(X) is closed with respect to  $\odot, \lor, \rightarrow, 1, 0$ ;  $a \odot b = a \land b$  for all  $a \in I(X)$ ,  $b \in X$ ;  $(I(X), \land, \lor, \rightarrow, 1, 0)$  is a Heyting algebra.

**Remark 3.2.2.** If all elements of X are idempotents, then X coincides with I(X), and it is a Heyting algebra. On the other hand, every Heyting algebra H is a commutative bounded GBL-algebra by setting  $a \odot b = a \land b$  for all  $a, b \in H$ . Thus, Heyting algebras are special cases of commutative bounded GBL-algebras, and finite Heyting algebras are special cases of finite GBL-algebras.

If in X it holds the further identity (prelinearity)  $(a \rightarrow b) \lor (b \rightarrow a) = 1$ , then X is a Basic Logic algebra (shortly, BL-algebra). As we have mentioned, GBL-algebras were originally defined as generalizations of BL-algebras where prelinearity does not hold. If X is both a BL-algebra and a Heyting algebra, it is called Gödel algebra [10, 26].

The commutative integral GBL-algebras which satisfy the identity  $(a \rightarrow b) \rightarrow b = (b \rightarrow a) \rightarrow a$  are term-equivalent to MV-algebras.

We now introduce a class of structures obtained from Heyting algebras and equivalence relations on them.

Let H be a Heyting algebra and G be a subgroup of the automorphism group of H.

For  $a, b \in H$  we write  $a \sim b$  if there is  $f \in G$  such that f(a) = b. It is easy to verify that  $\sim$  is an equivalence relation on H.

We write [a] for the equivalence class of a, and H/G, for the the quotient modulo the equivalence relation  $\sim$ .

In a similar way as we did for congruences on D-posets, we endow H/G with a relation, writing  $[a] \leq [b]$  if there are  $x \in [a]$  and  $y \in [b]$  with  $x \leq y$  in H. It can be easily verified that  $(H/G, \leq)$  is a partially ordered set.

**Definition 3.2.3.** *Let H be a Heyting algebra and G be a group of automorphisms of H*.

We say that G is chain-transitive if, for every pair of sequences  $a_1 \le a_2 \le ... \le a_k$ and  $b_1 \le b_2 \le ... \le b_k$  with  $a_i \sim b_i$  for all  $i, 1 \le i \le k$ , there is  $f \in G$  such that  $f(a_i) = b_i$  for all  $i, 1 \le i \le k$ .

In other words, G is chain-transitive when every two chains of elements equivalent in pairs are equivalent with respect to one single automorphism.

In [14] the following structures have been introduced.

**Definition 3.2.4.** A GBL-pair is a pair (H,G), where H is a Heyting algebra and G is a chain-transitive subgroup of the automorphism group of H.

**Remark 3.2.3.** The definition of GBL-pair recalls the one of MV-pair in [28] and [13]. In those works, however, the definition applies to Boolean algebras, and an analogue of the condition of chain-transitivity is given for chains of two elements.

Regarding H as a model of intuitionistic propositional logic, the relation ~ can be thought of as an *indiscernibility relation* between propositions. This relation, indeed, can be interpreted as follows: a subject is not able to discern among certain classes of propositions, due to vagueness or ambiguity of the language. Note that the indiscernibility in our definition is a particular case of the *indiscernibility relation on a poset* of [12]. The fact that the equivalence relation is given by a group of automorphisms can be interpreted as follows: when two propositions are equivalent, they are also equivalent with respect to their relation with the rest of the model. In other words, if the subject is not able to discern between two propositions, the role of these propositions in the logic model cannot be discerned either. Chain transitivity can be interpreted as follows: if two chains of deductions in Hare step-by-step equivalent by the action of G, then they are equivalent as a whole. That is, the subject is not able to discern between two *lines of reasoning* made of indiscernible steps.

**Remark 3.2.4.** Chain-transitivity prevents two strictly comparable elements a < b in H to be equivalent. Indeed, suppose that  $a \sim b$ , besides the trivial  $a \sim a$ . Then, since  $a \le a$ ,  $a \le b$ , by chain-transitivity there would be an automorphism  $f \in G$  such that f(a) = a and f(a) = b, which cannot hold.

In [14] it was proven that, for a GBL-pair (H, G) with H finite, the quotient H/G can be endowed with the structure of GBL-algebra (whence the term "GBL-pair" comes from), and the operations between classes can be expressed as minima and maxima of sets of classes.

**Proposition 3.2.2.** Let (H,G) be a GBL-pair, where H is a finite Heyting algebra. The following sets exist in H/G:

$$[a] \land [b] = \max\{[x \land y] \mid x \sim a, y \sim b\};$$
  

$$[a] \lor [b] = \min\{[x \lor y] \mid x \sim a, y \sim b\};$$
  

$$[a] \odot [b] = \min\{[x \land y] \mid x \sim a, y \sim b\};$$
  

$$[a] \rightarrow [b] = \max\{[x \rightarrow y] \mid x \sim a, y \sim b\}.$$

The structure  $(H/G, \land, \lor, \odot, \rightarrow, [1], [0])$  is a GBL-algebra.

**Remark 3.2.5.** Proposition 3.2.2 provides an interpretation of logical operations as minima or maxima of sets of classes. In this context,  $\odot$  can be viewed as a strong conjunction while  $\land$  is a weak conjunction. As  $\rightarrow$  is the adjoint of  $\odot$ , it can be viewed as a strong implication, while  $\lor$  is a weak disjunction. To complete the set of operations, we can define two other operations, a strong disjunction  $\oplus$  and a weak implication  $\Rightarrow$ :

$$[a] \oplus [b] = \max\{[x \lor y] \mid x \sim a, y \sim b\};$$
$$[a] \Rightarrow [b] = \min\{[x \to y] \mid x \sim a, y \sim b\}$$

The operation  $\oplus$  will be considered again in Section 3.4. We do not investigate further  $\Rightarrow$ : just note that it is not, as one may expect, the residuum of  $\land$ .

The final result of [14] is a representation of finite GBL-algebras as GBL-pairs.

**Theorem 3.2.1.** Let X be a finite GBL-algebra. Then, there is a GBL-pair (H,G) such that  $(X, \lor, \odot, \rightarrow, 1, 0)$  is isomorphic to  $(H/G, \lor, \odot, \rightarrow, [1], [0])$ .

When H is a Boolean algebra, Proposition 3.2.2 recalls Proposition 2.4.1, which concerned sectional D-congruences. Indeed, it is shown in [14] that, when H is a finite Boolean algebra, H/G is an MV-algebra. Here we show that the equivalence relation induced by G on a Boolean algebra H in a GBL-pair (H,G) is a clopen D-congruence.

**Proposition 3.2.3.** Let (H,G) be a GBL-pair, where H is a Boolean algebra. Then, the equivalence relation ~ induced by G is a clopen D-congruence.

*Proof.* Let  $a, b, c, d \in H$ . If  $a \le b, c \le d, a \sim c$  and  $b \sim d$ , then, by chain-transitivity, there is  $f \in G$  such that f(a) = c and f(b) = d. Since g is an automorphism of H, it preserves the difference, therefore  $f(b \land a) = f(b) \land f(a) = d \land c$ , hence  $(b \land a) \sim (d \land c)$  and (A1) of Definition 2.2.1 holds.

If  $a \le b$  and  $b \sim d$ , then there is  $f \in G$  such that f(b) = d. If we set c = f(a), then  $c \sim a$  and  $c \le d$ , therefore (A2) of Definition 2.2.1 holds.

#### **3.3 Dual GBL-algebras**

In this section we introduce a class of algebraic structures, *dual GBL-algebras*, which are the structures obtained by GBL-algebras by reversing the order relation, and changing the binary operations  $\odot$  with  $\oplus$  and  $\rightarrow$  with  $\odot$ . For definitions and results about dual GBL-algebras we refer to the analogous ones about GBL-algebras in Section 3.2 and its references. Here we choose to work with the dual of GBL-algebras, because our results involve S-operators, that we introduced with respect to an operation of difference analogous to the operation  $\ominus$  of dual GBL-algebras.

Definition 3.3.1. A dual GBL-algebra is a structure

$$(X, \wedge, \oplus, \ominus, 0, 1)$$

of type (2, 2, 2, 0, 0) such that  $(X, \oplus, 0)$  is a commutative monoid, the following identities hold:

$$a \ominus a = 0;$$
$$(b \ominus a) \oplus a = (a \ominus b) \oplus b;$$
$$c \ominus (a \oplus b) = (c \ominus a) \ominus b,$$

and  $(X, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is a lattice, where  $a \lor b = (b \ominus a) \oplus a$ .

It can be proven that, for every dual GBL-algebra X, the lattice  $(X, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is distributive, and, for all  $a, b \in X$ ,

$$b \ominus a = \min\{x \in X \mid b \le a \oplus x\}.$$

We say that  $a \in X$  is idempotent if  $a \oplus a = a$ . The bounds 0 and 1 are idempotent in every dual GBL-algebra. If all  $a \in X$  are idempotent, then  $a \oplus b = a \lor b$  for all  $a, b \in X$ , and  $(X, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is a Brouwerian algebra.

Every MV-algebra is a dual GBL-algebra, as well as a GBL-algebra, by De Morgan's duality.

For these and other results about dual GBL-algebras, see the analogous ones about GBL-algebras, in Section 3.2 and the relative references.

**Remark 3.3.1.** It is more convenient for the sequel to extend the signature and define a GBL-algebra as a structure

$$(X, \lor, \land, \oplus, \ominus, 0, 1)$$

of type (2, 2, 2, 2, 0, 0) such that  $(X, \oplus, 0)$  is a commutative monoid,  $(X, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is a lattice and the following identities hold:

(G1) 
$$a \ominus a = 0$$
;

$$(G2) \ (b \ominus a) \oplus a = a \lor b;$$

$$(G3) \ c \ominus (a \oplus b) = (c \ominus a) \ominus b.$$

In this section we show how the combination of an S-operator and a closure operator can give rise to a dual GBL-algebra.

We will always assume S-operators to be strict. The results could be generalized to S-operators not necessarily strict, but the proofs would be longer and the notation more cumbersome.

**Definition 3.3.2.** Let X be a set and  $f, g: X \to X$  be two functions. We say that f and g commute if gf = fg. We say that the f and g strongly commute if they commute and, for all  $a, b \in X$  such that gf(a) = fg(b), there is  $c \in X$  such that f(c) = f(a) and g(c) = g(b).

Let now U be a Boolean algebra,  $\sigma: U \to U$  be a strict S-operator and  $\mu: U \to U$  be a closure operator.

We will consider only the equivalence relation induced by  $\sigma$ , and not that induced by  $\mu$ . Thus, we say that *a* and *b* are equivalent, and we write  $a \sim b$ , whenever  $\sigma(a) = \sigma(b)$ .

The following lemma shows that, if a strict S-operator and a closure operator commute, then all the elements equivalent to a closed element are closed.

**Lemma 3.3.1.** Let U be a Boolean algebra,  $\sigma : U \to U$  be a strict S-operator and  $\mu : U \to U$  be a closure operator such that  $\sigma$  and  $\mu$  commute. For all  $a, b \in U$ , if  $a \sim b$  and b is closed, then a is closed.

*Proof.* Let us suppose that a is not closed. This means that  $a < \mu(a)$ , hence, since  $\sigma$  is strict,  $\sigma(a) < \sigma\mu(a)$  and  $\sigma(a) < \mu\sigma(a)$  by commutation. Since  $a \sim b$  and b is closed, it holds  $\sigma(a) = \sigma\mu(b)$  and, by the previous inequality and commutation,

 $\mu\sigma(b) = \sigma\mu(b) < \mu\sigma\mu(b) = \mu\sigma(b),$ 

which cannot hold. We conclude that a is closed.

The following lemma shows that, under the hypothesis of strong commutation,  $\mu$  distributes over the operation  $\oplus$  of the MV-algebra  $\sigma(U)$ . This property generalizes the distributivity of a closure operator over joins.

**Lemma 3.3.2.** Let U be a Boolean algebra,  $\sigma : U \to U$  be a strict S-operator and  $\mu : U \to U$  be a closure operator such that  $\sigma$  and  $\mu$  commute. Then, for all  $a, b \in U$ ,

$$\mu(\sigma(a) \oplus \sigma(b)) = \mu\sigma(a) \oplus \mu\sigma(b),$$

where  $\oplus$  is taken in the MV-algebra  $\sigma(U)$ .

Proof. By Proposition 2.4.2 we have

$$\sigma(a) \oplus \sigma(b) = \max\{\sigma(x \lor y) \mid \sigma(x) = \sigma(a), \sigma(y) = \sigma(b)\},\$$

hence  $\sigma(a) \oplus \sigma(b) = \sigma(a' \lor b')$  for some  $a' \sim a$  and  $b' \sim b$ . Then,

$$\mu(\sigma(a) \oplus \sigma(b)) = \mu\sigma(a' \lor b') = \sigma\mu(a' \lor b') = \sigma(\mu(a') \lor \mu(b')),$$

where the last equality follows from the closure property. Therefore, by monotonicity of  $\mu$ ,

$$\mu(\sigma(a) \oplus \sigma(b)) = \max\{\sigma(\mu(a') \lor \mu(b')) \mid a' \sim a, b' \sim b\}.$$

On the other hand,

$$\sigma\mu(a) \oplus \sigma\mu(b) = \max\{\sigma(x \lor y) \mid x \sim \mu(a), y \sim \mu(b)\}.$$

The equality in (2) follows from the fact that, for all  $a \in U$ , the sets  $\{x \mid x \in U, x \sim \mu(a)\}$  and  $\{\mu(a') \mid a' \in U, a' \sim a\}$  are equal. Indeed, clearly the second set is included in the first. On the other hand, from Lemma 3.3.1 it follows that, if  $x \sim \mu(a)$ , then  $x = \mu(y)$  for some  $y \in U$ . Then,  $\sigma \mu(y) = \mu \sigma(a)$  and, by strong commutation, there is  $a' \in U$  such that  $\mu(a') = \mu(y)$  and  $\sigma(a') = \sigma(a)$ . Therefore,  $x = \mu(a')$  for an  $a' \sim a$ , hence every x in the first set is also an element of the second.

Let U be a Boolean algebra,  $\sigma : U \to U$  be a strict S-operator and  $\mu : U \to U$  be a closure operator such that  $\sigma$ , and  $\mu$  strongly commute. Let  $\eta = \mu \sigma = \sigma \mu$ . We set, for all  $a, b \in U$ ,

$$\eta(a) \equiv \eta(b) = \sigma \mu(a) \oplus \sigma \mu(b)$$
, with  $\oplus$  in the MV-algebra  $\sigma(U)$ ;  
 $\eta(b) \equiv \eta(a) = \mu(\sigma(b) \ominus \sigma(a))$ , with  $\ominus$  in the MV-algebra  $\sigma(U)$ .

Clearly, since  $\sigma$  and  $\mu$  are both idempotent, also  $\eta$  is idempotent, that is  $\eta\eta(a) = \eta(a)$  for all  $a \in U$ .

The following lemma shows that  $\eta(U)$  is closed by lattice operations, by  $\boxplus$  and  $\boxminus$ .

**Lemma 3.3.3.** Let U be a Boolean algebra,  $\sigma : U \to U$  be an S-operator and  $\mu : U \to U$  be a closure operator such that  $\sigma$  and  $\mu$  strongly commute. Let  $\eta = \mu\sigma = \sigma\mu$ . Then, for all  $a, b \in U$ ,

- (1) There is  $c \in U$  such that  $\eta(a) \lor \eta(b) = \eta(c)$ ;
- (2) There is  $c \in U$  such that  $\eta(a) \land \eta(b) = \eta(c)$ ;
- (3) There is  $c \in U$  such that  $\eta(a) \equiv \eta(b) = \eta(c)$ ;

#### 3.3. DUAL GBL-ALGEBRAS

(4) There is  $c \in U$  such that  $\eta(b) \boxminus \eta(a) = \eta(c)$ .

*Proof.* (1) Since  $\mu$  distributes over joins,  $\eta(a) \lor \eta(b) = \mu(\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b))$ , and  $\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b) = \sigma(c)$  for some  $c \in U$ , because  $\sigma(U)$  is closed by join.

(2) Since both  $\sigma(U)$  and  $\mu(U)$  are closed by  $\wedge$ ,  $\eta(a) \wedge \eta(b) = \sigma(x) = \mu(y)$  for some  $x, y \in U$ . This means that  $\mu(y) \sim x$ , and by Lemma 3.3.1 x is closed, that is  $x = \mu(x)$ , and we conclude  $\eta(a) \wedge \eta(b) = \sigma\mu(x) = \eta(x)$ .

(3) By commutation, distributivity of  $\mu$ , and since  $\sigma(U)$  is closed by  $\oplus$ ,

$$\eta(a) \equiv \eta(b) = \mu \sigma(a) \oplus \mu \sigma(b) = \mu \sigma(\sigma(a) \oplus \sigma(b)),$$

hence  $\eta(a) \equiv \eta(b)$  is of the form  $\eta(c)$  for some  $c \in U$ .

(4) Since  $\sigma(U)$  is closed by  $\Theta$ ,

$$\eta(b) \boxminus \eta(a) = \mu(\sigma(b) \ominus \sigma(a)) = \mu\sigma(\sigma(b) \ominus \sigma(a)),$$

hence  $\eta(b) \equiv \eta(a)$  is of the form  $\eta(c)$  for some  $c \in U$ .

**Theorem 3.3.1.** Let U be a Boolean algebra,  $\sigma : U \to U$  be an S-operator and  $\mu : U \to U$  be a closure operator such that  $\sigma$  and  $\mu$  strongly commute. Let  $\eta = \mu\sigma = \sigma\mu$ . Then,

$$(\eta(U), \lor, \land, \boxplus, \boxminus, 0, 1)$$

is a dual GBL-algebra.

*Proof.* By Lemma 3.3.3,  $\eta(U)$  is closed by  $\boxplus$ , therefore  $(\eta(U), \boxplus, 0)$  is a monoid. Commutativity of this monoid comes from the commutativity of  $\oplus$  in the MV-algebra  $\sigma(U)$ , and 0 is the neutral element of the monoid and it is  $0 = \eta(0)$ .

By Lemma 3.3.3,  $\eta(U)$  is closed by  $\vee$  and  $\wedge$ , and it contains  $0 = \eta(0)$  and  $1 = \eta(1)$ . Therefore,  $(\eta(U), \vee, \wedge, 0, 1)$  is a sublattice of U.

By Lemma 3.3.3,  $\eta(U)$  is also closed by  $\boxminus$ .

We now verify (G1), (G2) and (G3) of Remark 3.3.1.

(G1) It holds  $\eta(a) \equiv \eta(a) = \mu(\sigma(a) \ominus \sigma(a)) = \mu(0) = 0$ .

(G2) It holds

$$(\eta(b) \boxminus \eta(a)) \boxplus \eta(a) = \mu(\sigma(b) \ominus \sigma(a)) \boxplus \mu \sigma(a),$$

and this is equal, by Lemma 3.3.2, to  $\mu((\sigma(b) \ominus \sigma(a)) \equiv \sigma(a))$ . Then, by definition of MV-algebra, by Lemma 3.3.2 and the closure property, we have

$$(\eta(b) \boxminus \eta(a)) \boxplus \eta(a) = \mu(\sigma(a) \lor \sigma(b)) = \eta(a) \lor \eta(b).$$

(G3) By Lemma 3.3.2 and by definition of  $\boxplus$  and  $\boxminus$ ,

$$\eta(c) \boxminus (\eta(a) \boxplus \eta(b)) = \mu(\sigma(c) \ominus (\sigma(a) \oplus \sigma(b))).$$

By definition of MV-algebra, this is equal to  $\mu((\sigma(c) \ominus \sigma(b)) \ominus \sigma(a))$ , hence

$$\eta(c) \boxminus (\eta(a) \boxplus \eta(b)) = \mu(\sigma(c) \ominus \sigma(a)) \boxminus \eta(b) = (\eta(c) \boxminus \eta(a)) \boxminus \eta(b).$$

If  $\mu$  in Theorem 3.3.1 is the identity, then  $\eta = \sigma$ , and the theorem reduces to Corollary 2.3.2, hence  $\eta(U)$  is an MV-algebra. On the other hand, if  $\sigma$  is the identity, then  $\eta = \mu$ , and the theorem reduces to Theorem 3.1.1, hence  $\eta(U)$  is a Brouwerian algebra.

We now show a simple, non-degenerate example.

**Example 3.3.1.** Let U be the powerset of the three-element set  $\{a, b, c\}$ , with the usual order by set inclusion and set difference, which is a Boolean algebra. Let  $\sigma : U \rightarrow U$  be defined as follows:

$$\begin{split} \sigma(\emptyset) &= \emptyset; \\ \sigma(\{a\}) &= \{a\}; \\ \sigma(\{b\}) &= \sigma(\{c\}) = \{b\}; \\ \sigma(\{a,b\}) &= \sigma(\{a,c\}) = \{a,b\}; \\ \sigma(\{b,c\}) &= \{b,c\}; \\ \sigma(\{a,b,c\}) &= \{a,b,c\}. \\ Let \ \mu : U \to U \ be \ defined \ as \ follows: \\ \mu(\emptyset) &= \emptyset; \\ \mu(\{a\}) &= \{a\}; \\ \mu(\{b\}) &= \mu(\{a,b\}) = \{a,c\}; \\ \mu(\{b,c\}) &= \mu(\{a,b,c\}) = \{a,b,c\}. \end{split}$$

The example is small enough to allow a direct verification of the hypothesis of Theorem 3.3.1. The resulting dual GBL-algebra is  $(X, \lor, \land, \oplus, \ominus, 0_X, 1_X)$  on the chain

$$X = \{ \emptyset, \{a\}, \{a, b\}, \{a, b, c\} \},\$$

where  $\emptyset = 0_X$ ,  $\{a, b, c\} = 1_X$ ,  $\{a\}$  is an idempotent element and  $\{a, b\} \oplus \{a, b\} = 1_X$ .

Theorem 3.3.1 can be reformulated, mutatis mutandis, in terms of GBL-algebras instead of dual GBL-algebras, and interior operators instead of closure operators.

#### **3.4** GBL\*algebras and dual GBL\*algebras

In [15] a new class of algebras has been introduced, defining on GBL-algebras a further operation, which generalizes the monoidal sum of MV-algebras.

**Definition 3.4.1.** We call GBL\*algebra a structure

$$(X, \wedge, \lor, \odot, \oplus, 1, 0)$$

of type (2, 2, 2, 2, 0, 0) such that  $(X, \land, \lor, \odot, \rightarrow, 1, 0)$  is a GBL-algebra,  $(X, \oplus, 0)$  is a commutative monoid and  $\oplus$  satisfies the following identities:

$$a \rightarrow (a \oplus b) = 1;$$
  
 $(a \oplus b) \rightarrow b = a \rightarrow (a \odot b).$ 

The class of GBL\*algebras has as its subclasses both MV-algebras and Heyting algebras. Every MV-algebra is a GBL\*algebra with  $\oplus$  as the usual monoidal sum. As shown in [15],  $a \oplus b = a \lor b$  for all  $a, b \in I(X)$ . Thus, every Heyting algebra is a GBL\*algebra with  $a \oplus b = a \lor b$  (in particular this equality holds for every Gödel algebra).

In a GBL\*algebra, in general,

$$a \oplus b \neq \neg (\neg a \odot \neg b),$$

and the equality holds only if the GBL\*algebra is an MV-algebra. This makes  $\oplus$  different from the operation  $\oplus'$  defined as

$$a \oplus' b = \neg(\neg a \odot \neg b),$$

introduced in [39] for BL-algebras. The operations  $\oplus$  and  $\oplus'$  coincide only in MV-algebras.

The following result was proven in [15].

**Proposition 3.4.1.** Let  $(X, \land, \lor, \odot, \rightarrow, 1, 0)$  be a finite GBL-algebra. Then, there is a unique operation  $\oplus$  such that  $(X, \land, \lor, \odot, \oplus, \rightarrow, 1, 0)$  is a GBL\*algebra.

Since, on the other hand, every GBL\*algebra satisfies the identities of a GBLalgebra, Proposition 3.4.1 implies that there is a bijection between finite GBLalgebras and finite GBL\*algebras.

In a finite GBL\*algebra, the operation  $\lor$  can be expressed in terms of the other GBL-algebra operations and  $\oplus$ , as stated in the following proposition, proven in [15].

**Proposition 3.4.2.** Let  $a, b \in X$  be two elements of a finite GBL-algebra. Then,

$$a \lor b = ((a \to b) \to b) \land (a \oplus b).$$

By commutativity of  $\lor$ , it is also  $a \lor b = ((b \to a) \to a) \land (a \oplus b)$ .

As mentioned before, every hoop has a meet-semilattice reduct, and it has a lattice reduct if and only if it is the join-free reduct of a GBL-algebra. Every finite meet-semilattice is complete, hence it is the join-free reduct of a lattice (in a unique way). Then, every finite hoop is the join-free reduct of a unique GBL-algebra, and if we add the axioms relative to the operation  $\oplus$ , the join operation can be removed from the language, by Proposition 3.4.2. Therefore, we have the following proposition.

**Proposition 3.4.3.** Let  $(X, \odot, \oplus, \rightarrow, 1, 0)$  be a structure such that  $(X, \odot, 1)$  and  $(X, \oplus, 0)$  are commutative monoids and the following identities hold:

$$a \to (a \oplus b) = 1;$$
  

$$a \odot (a \to b) = b \odot (b \to a);$$
  

$$(a \odot b) \to c = b \to (a \to c);$$
  

$$(a \oplus b) \to b = a \to (a \odot b).$$

Let  $a \lor b = ((a \to b) \to b) \land (a \oplus b)$  and  $a \land b = a \odot (a \to b)$ . Then,

$$(X, \land, \lor, \odot, \oplus, \rightarrow, 1, 0)$$

is a GBL\*algebra.

Notice, however, that Proposition 3.4.2 was proven in [15] relying on a representation theorem in [30], valid only for finite GBL-algebras. This means that, for a generic GBL\*algebra, we cannot (as far as we know) omit  $\lor$  from the signature.

One of the motivations for introducing GBL\*algebras in [15] was to have a notion of state of GBL-algebras. In [15] a *state* of GBL\*algebra is defined as follows.

**Definition 3.4.2.** Let X be a GBL\*algebra. A state of X is a function  $s : X \rightarrow [0,1]$  which satisfies

- normalization: s(0) = 0 and s(1) = 1;
- monotonicity: for all  $a, b \in L$  with  $a \le b, s(a) \le s(b)$ ;
- additivity: for all  $a, b \in L$ ,  $s(a \oplus b) + s(a \odot b) = s(a) + s(b)$ .

If X is an MV-algebras, the definitions of state of MV-algebra [37, 16] and state of GBL-algebra coincide. If X is a Heyting algebra, states of X are valuations to [0,1] on L as a distributive lattice. In particular, if X is a Gödel algebra, states of X as a GBL\*algebra are the same as states of X as a Gödel algebra, as they are defined in [1].

If X is the GBL-algebra reduct of a GBL\*algebra, then we say that a function  $s: X \to [0, 1]$  is a state of X if it is a state of X as a GBL\*algebra.

In [15] the following result is proven.

**Theorem 3.4.1.** Let X be a finite GBL-algebra and  $s : X \to [0,1]$  be a state of X. Then, the restriction of s to I(L) is a valuation (on the distributive lattice reduct of I(X)).

Conversely, every valuation  $f : I(L) \rightarrow [0,1]$  can be extended to a state  $s : L \rightarrow [0,1]$  in a unique way.

Similarly as we introduced dual GBL-algebras as the algebraic structures orderdual to GBL-algebras, we now introduce dual GBL\*algebras. In the definition of GBL\*algebra, we exchange the order relation, the pair of operations  $\land, \lor$  and  $\odot, \oplus$ , and we replace  $\rightarrow$  with  $\ominus$ . We get to the following definition.

Definition 3.4.3. We call dual GBL\*algebra a structure

$$(X, \lor, \land, \oplus, \odot, 0, 1)$$

of type (2, 2, 2, 2, 0, 0) such that  $(X, \oplus, 0)$  and  $(X, \odot, 1)$  are commutative monoids,  $(X, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is a lattice and the following identities hold:

- (P1)  $(a \odot b) \ominus a = 0;$
- (P2)  $(b \ominus a) \oplus a = a \lor b;$
- (P3)  $c \ominus (a \oplus b) = (c \ominus a) \ominus b$ ;
- $(P4) \ (a \oplus b) \ominus b = a \ominus (a \odot b)$

Let now U be a Boolean algebra,  $\sigma : U \to U$  be a strict S-operator and  $\mu : U \to U$ be a closure operator such that  $\sigma$  and  $\mu$  strongly commute, as defined in Section 3.3. Let  $\eta = \mu \sigma = \sigma \mu$ . As in Section 3.3 we set, for all  $a, b \in U$ ,

- $\eta(a) \equiv \eta(b) = \sigma \mu(a) \oplus \sigma \mu(b)$ , with  $\oplus$  in the MV-algebra  $\sigma(U)$ ;
- $\eta(b) \equiv \eta(a) = \mu(\sigma(b) \ominus \sigma(a))$ , with  $\ominus$  in the MV-algebra  $\sigma(U)$ .

Furthermore, we set

 $\eta(a) \boxdot \eta(b) = \sigma \mu(a) \odot \sigma \mu(b)$ , with  $\odot$  in the MV-algebra  $\sigma(U)$ .

We first show that  $\eta(U)$  is closed by the newly defined operation  $\Box$ .

**Lemma 3.4.1.** Let U be a Boolean algebra,  $\sigma : U \to U$  be an S-operator and  $\mu : U \to U$  be a closure operator such that  $\sigma$  and  $\mu$  strongly commute. Let  $\eta = \mu\sigma = \sigma\mu$ . Then, for all  $a, b \in U$ , there is  $c \in U$  such that  $\eta(a) \boxdot \eta(b) = \eta(c)$ .

*Proof.* By Proposition 2.4.2 we have

$$\sigma\mu(a) \odot \sigma\mu(b) = \min\{\sigma(x \land y) \mid x \sim \mu(a), y \sim \mu(b)\}.$$

By Lemma 3.3.1, we have then

 $\sigma\mu(a) \odot \sigma\mu(b) = \min\{\sigma(\mu(a') \land \mu(b')) \mid \mu(a') \sim \mu(a), \mu(b') \sim \mu(b)\}.$ 

Since  $\mu(U)$  is closed by  $\wedge$ , the second term of equality is  $\sigma\mu(c)$  for some  $c \in U$ , therefore  $\eta(a) \boxdot \eta(b) = \eta(c)$ .

We can strengthen the statement of Theorem 3.3.1 as follows.

**Theorem 3.4.2.** Let U be a Boolean algebra,  $\sigma : U \to U$  be an S-operator and  $\mu : U \to U$  be a closure operator such that  $\sigma$  and  $\mu$  strongly commute, as defined in Section 3.3. Let  $\eta = \mu\sigma = \sigma\mu$ . Then,

$$(\eta(U), \lor, \land, \boxplus, \boxdot, \boxdot, 0, 1)$$

is a dual GBL\*algebra.

*Proof.* By Theorem 3.3.1 we know that  $\eta(U)$  is a dual GBL-algebra, hence the structure  $(\eta(U), \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is a lattice,  $(\eta(U), \boxplus, 0)$  is a commutative monoid and (P2) and (P3) of Definition 3.4.3 hold, since they are the same as, respectively, (G2) and (G3) of Definition 3.3.1.

The identity (P1) for  $\Box$  is stonger than (G1), but it easily follows from the monotonicity of  $\odot$  in  $\sigma(U)$ .

Further, by Lemma 3.4.1,  $(\eta(U), \boxdot, 1)$  is a submonoid of  $(\sigma(U), \boxdot, 1)$ , hence it is a commutative monoid.

It remains to prove (P4). By Lemma 3.3.2,

$$(\eta(a) \boxplus \eta(b)) \boxminus \eta(b) = \mu((\sigma(a) \oplus \sigma(b)) \ominus \sigma(b)).$$

This is equal to  $\mu(\sigma(a) \ominus (\sigma(a) \odot \sigma(b)))$ , since in every MV-algebra the identity  $(x \oplus y) \ominus y = x \ominus (x \odot y)$  holds. By idempotence of  $\mu$ , for every  $x \in U$  it holds  $\eta(x) = \sigma\mu(x) = \sigma\mu(x) = \eta\mu(x)$ . Therefore

$$(\eta(a) \boxplus \eta(b)) \boxminus \eta(b) = (\eta \mu(a) \boxplus \eta \mu(b)) \boxminus \eta \mu(b),$$

and from our previous computation we obtain

$$(\eta(a) \boxplus \eta(b)) \boxminus \eta(b) = \mu(\eta(a) \ominus (\eta(a) \boxdot \eta(b))),$$

which is finally equal to  $\eta(a) \equiv (\eta(a) \boxdot \eta(b))$ . To prove this last identity, observe that  $\eta(a) \boxdot \eta(b)$  is of the form  $\eta(c)$  for some  $c \in U$  (since  $\eta(U)$  is closed by  $\boxdot$ ) and that

$$\mu(\sigma\mu(a) \ominus \sigma\mu(c)) = \eta\mu(a) \boxminus \eta\mu(c) = \eta(a) \boxminus \eta(c).$$

Similarly as for Theorem 3.3.1, Theorem 3.4.2 can be reformulated, mutatis mutandis, in terms of GBL\*algebras instead of dual GBL\*algebras, and interior operators instead of closure operators.

# **Bibliography**

- S. Aguzzoli, B. Gerla, V. Marra: De Finetti's No-Dutch-book Criterion for Gödel Logic, Studia Logica 90(1) (2008), 25–41.
- [2] P. Bahls, J. Cole, N. Galatos, P. Jipsen, C. Tsinakis: *Cancellative Residuated Lattices*, Algebra Universalis 50(1) (2003) 83–106.
- [3] W. J. Blok, P. Dwinger: Equational Classes of Closure Algebras. I, Indagationes Mathematicae 37 (1975), 189–198.
- [4] G. Birkhoff: *Lattice Theory*, 3rd Edition, Colloquium Publications, Vol. XXV, American Mathematical Society (1967).
- [5] P. Burmeister: A Model Theoretic Oriented Approach to Partial Algebras, Academie-Verlag, Berlin (1986).
- [6] B. F. Chellas: *Modal Logic: an Introduction*, Cambridge University Press (1980).
- [7] G. Chevalier, S. Pulmannová: Some Ideal Lattices in Partial Abelian Monoids and Effect Algebras, Order 17 (2000), 75–92.
- [8] F. Chovanec, F. Kôpka: *D-posets*, in: K. Engesser, D.M. Gabbay and D. Lehmann (Eds.), "Handbook of Quantum Logic and Quantum Structures", Elsevier (2007), 367–428.
- [9] R. Cignoli, I. M. L. D'Ottaviano, D. Mundici, Algebraic Foundations of Many-valued Reasoning, Trends in Logic Vol 8, Kluwer, Dordrecht (2000).
- [10] P. Cintula, P. Hájek, C. Noguera (eds.): Handbook of Mathematical Fuzzy Logic, Studies in Logic, Vols. 37–38, College Publications, London (2011).
- [11] P. Codara: Partitions of a Finite Partially Ordered Set, in: "From Combinatorics to Philosophy: The Legacy of Gian-Carlo Rota", Springer (2009), 45–59.
- [12] P. Codara: Indiscernibility Relations on Partially Ordered Sets, in: "IEEE International Conference on Granular Computing (GrC) 2011" (2011), 150– 155.

- [13] A. Di Nola, M. Holčapek, G. Jenča: *The Category of MV-Pairs*, Logic Journal of the IGLP 17(4) (2009), 395–412.
- [14] T. Flaminio, B. Gerla, F. Marigo: *Heyting Algebras with Indiscernibility Relations*, FUZZ-IEEE 2015, Istanbul, Turkey (2015).
- [15] T. Flaminio, B. Gerla, F. Marigo: States on GBL-algebras with Monoidal Sum, Fuzzy Sets and Systems (2016), DOI: 10.1016/j.fss.2016.09.017.
- [16] T. Flaminio, T. Kroupa: *States of MV-algebras*, in: P. Cintula, C. Fermüller and C. Noguera (Eds.), "Handbook of Mathematical Fuzzy Logic", Studies in Logic, Mathematical Logic and Foundations, College Publications (2015).
- [17] T. Flaminio, F. Montagna: *MV-algebras with Internal States and Probabilistic Fuzzy Logics*, International Journal of Approximate Reasoning, 50(1) (2009), 138–152.
- [18] D. J. Foulis, M. K. Bennett *Effect Algebra and Unsharp Quantum Logics*, Foundations of Physics 24 (1994), 1331–1352.
- [19] N. Galatos, P. Jipsen: A Survey of Generalized Basic Logic Algebras, in P. Cintula, Z. Haniková, V. Švejdar (Eds.), "Witnessed Years: Essays in Honour of Petr Hájek", College Publications (2009), 305–331.
- [20] N. Galatos, P. Jipsen, T. Kowalski, H. Ono: *Residuated Lattices: an Algebraic Glimpse at Substructural Logics*, Studies in Logic and the Foundations of Mathematics, Vol. 151, Elsevier (2007).
- [21] N. Galatos, C. Tsinakis: Generalized MV-Algebras, Journal of Algebra 283 (2005), 254–291.
- [22] R. Giuntini, H. Greuling: Toward a Formal Language for Unsharp Properties, Foundations of Physics 19 (1989), 931–945.
- [23] G. Grätzer: Universal Algebra, Second Edition, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1979).
- [24] G. Grätzer: Lattice Theory, Foundation, Birkhäuser, Basel (2011).
- [25] S. P. Gudder, S. J. Pulmannová: *Quotients of Partial Abelian Monoids*, Algebra Universalis 38 (1997), 395–421.
- [26] P. Hájek: *Metamathematics of Fuzzy Logic*, Kluwer Academy Publishers (1998).
- [27] G. Jenča: Boolean Algebras R-generated by MV-effect Algebras, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 145 (2004), 279–285.
- [28] G. Jenča: A Representation Theorem for MV-algebras, Soft Computing 11 (2007), 557–564.

- [29] P. Jipsen, F. Montagna: On the Structure of Generalized BL-algebras, Algebra Universalis 55 (2006), 226–237.
- [30] P. Jipsen, F. Montagna: *The Blok-Ferreirim Theorem for Normal GBLalgebras and its Applications*, Algebra Universalis 60 (2009), 381–404.
- [31] P. Jipsen, F. Montagna: *Embedding Theorems for Classes of GBL-algebras*, Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra 214 (2010), 1559–1575.
- [32] P. Jipsen, C. Tsinakis: A Survey on Residuated Lattices, in: J. Martinez (Ed.), "Ordered Algebraic Structures", Kluwer (2002), 19–56.
- [33] F. Kôpka, F. Chovanec: *D-posets*, Mathematica Slovaca, 44 (1994), 21–34.
- [34] H. M. MacNeille: *Extension of a Distributive Lattice to a Boolean Ring*, Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society 45 (1939), 452–455.
- [35] J. C. C. McKinsey, A. Tarski: *The Algebra of Topology*, Annals of Mathematics 45 (1944), 141–191.
- [36] J. C. C. McKinsey, A. Tarski: On Closed Elements in Closure Algebras, Annals of Mathematics 47 (1946), 122–162.
- [37] D. Mundici: Averaging the Truth-value in Łukasiewicz Logic, Studia Logica 55 (1995), 113–127.
- [38] S. Pulmannová: Quotients of Partial Abelian Semigroups, Algebra Universalis 37 (1997), 119–140.
- [39] B. Riečan: On the Probability on BL-algebras, Acta Math. Nitra 4 (2000), 3–13.
- [40] G.-C. Rota: *The Valuation Ring of a Distributive Lattice*, in: "Proceedings University of Houston Lattice Theory Conference", Houston, Texas (1973), 574–628.
- [41] T. Vetterlein: Residuated Lattices Arising from Equivalence Relations on Boolean and Brouwerian Algebras, Mathematical Logic Quarterly 54 (2008), 350–367.